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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
By % B 2

Result E 4
Year ended 31 December
HE12A3MBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBFT ARBTT ARETT ARETI
Revenue N 44,013 56,931 45,738 43,949 38,891
Profit before tax B B A1 0 A 16,510 26,185 28,518 24,908 25,215
Income tax expense FiT 15 3 5 32 (6,662) (8,583) (6,488) (6,768) (7,674)
Profit and total comprehensive ANEHEB AES
income for the year attributable ~ F A& K2 H
to owners of the Company W B 9,848 17,602 22,030 18,140 17,541
Proposed final dividend per share B & &k AR HALE HK$0.55 HK$1
cents cents
AL AL — — —
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
As at 31 December
R12A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBFT ARBFT ARBTT ARBTR
Total assets BEE 334,621 329,607 302,290 279,139 253,376
Total liabilities FES= N 106.102 101,813 92,098 90,977 83,354
Total equity attributable to owners AR A B A EMG
of the Company A 228,519 227,794 210,192 188,162 170,022
Financial Statistics Bt 7% 4 5t
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
Current ratio’ E) I 10.7 13.5 14.3 10.5 12.1
Gearing ratio (%)? EEBELE%) 31.7 30.9 305 326 32.9
Return on total assets (%)? BEERHRE(%) 2.9 5.3 7.3 6.5 6.9
Net profit margin (%) 5 F B E (%) 22.4 30.9 48.2 413 451
4 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Financial Summary

B E

Key Financial Data

FE

((

(@

Bt 3% BB

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR N AR AR AR
Earnings per share — basic® BRAEN — B4 0.010 0.018 0.022 0.018 0.018
Net assets value per share® BREEFMES 0.23 0.23 0.21 0.19 0.17
Notes: B 5F
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities. 1. RBLEDRRBDEERURDEETE -
2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total liabilities by total assets. 2. EEABBHRERNREBERUNBEETE -
3. Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the year 3. REEPRREDNEFANEMNRNBREETE -

by total assets.

4. Net profit margin is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

5. Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year by weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

6. Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets by
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

4. FNEEDRFENEN G AL EBEE -

5. BRANTDRARRFE ARG F REN R IAF
NEBTEBRZNEFIHFE -

6. BEREEFEDRFEERUNFACETEAR

ZIMETHHAHE AEFERCEENLERE -

2024 FEHE-TEERE(ZER) BERAF
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRHEESE

Dear honourable shareholders,

During the Period, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of burial plots,
columbarium units and provision of other burial-related services, provision of cemetery
maintenance services and provision of funeral services.

ENEHHRRE:

Rz RN AEBETERSHEE
MRS IR B ER -

Dear Shareholders,

With the new year embracing vibrancy and agility, on behalf of the
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company and my personal
own, may | extend my heartfelt gratitude and sincere greetings to all
shareholders, investors and friends from all sectors for your
long-lasting caring and support in this glowing and blooming
season!

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board of China Wan Tong
Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
In 2024, despite the complexity and changes of the market
environment as well as the increasingly fierce competition in the
industry, the Group always adhered to the concept of “providing
people-oriented services” in its operation, actively committed itself to
expansion and innovation, and ambitiously carried out its
undertaking with determination, in order to achieve great
performance with respect to business expansion, service
enhancement and public charity, and establish the foundation for the
sustainable and healthy development of the Company. In 2024, the
operating revenue of the Group amounted to RMB44.0 million and
the profit attributable to shareholders amounted to RMB9.8 million.

6 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MMM

BRBRREHEMEMERRE  BRHEE

Zhao Ying,
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Focusing on principal business and active expansion of
business. In order to satisfactorily fulfill the diversified funeral
service demand from the public, the Group always insisted on
actively expanding its business and continuously increasing its market
share based on market demand. In the past year, the Group
purchased 70,546.27 square meters of burial land in the airport
economic demonstration zone in Hebei Province, where it will focus
on creating a modern cemetery which will be green, ecological,
land-saving, environmentally friendly, scenic, and convenient, further
expanding the business scale of the Company and optimizing the
regional layout. Meanwhile, in order to provide our customers with
more convenient and efficient service experience, the Group actively
explored the new model of “Internet + Funeral” and provided online
service platforms such as “cloud tomb-sweeping (Z%3%)” and
“tomb-sweepings service on behalf of customers (8 & &i7)".

Continuous improvement in service. In the past year, the Group
continuously optimized its service processes, comprehensively
improved its service standards with respect to cemetery
development, burial services, columbarium storage, and operation
and management, and strived to provide customers more considerate
services of better quality and improve customer satisfaction.

Being grateful and willing to fulfill social responsibilities. The
Group always emphasized its corporate social responsibility, actively
participated in public charity, and gave back to society through
practical actions. In the past year, the Group made donation and
undertook the construction of the “Langfang Organ Donation
Memorial Park” charity project. It also organized employees to
participate in regular charity visits on Dragon Boat Festival, Chung
Yeung Festival, Children’s Day, as well as public worship on Ching
Ming Festival, National Day and Teachers’ Day, establishing a good
image in society and earning affirmation and recognition from all
sectors of society.
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BEIX BRBHAREBRE - REHHRHEE
RETACRERBFR FEBKERUANES
KRG m BRAREBRE - TE R SE
BR-BE—F SEXMBACRAILEEE
KR EN70,546.27F T KAFE L1 S EEITE
e KR RR ASEX ERIRN
BRICTERER E—FBEXRTRAAEBHRER
BICTREMRE - RURE  SEERFRREH
WrEZEIFEN BEERRLERBETFE  UIE
ERCIREEBIETA REFREHAEMNE
B SMNREER-

BERE FERARBAKF -BE—F KET
EECRERE 2HEAEEME  BHERS -
ERGF BEEREITERBEE BHARE
FRHEEMEE BONRE EEREERE
Rt

BAkRBR REBETHEEF SEEKFELD
¥Hesd BRZ2HEQAGFEE BERTHO
BEHE -BE—F SEBRBAREIEITER
HERBALSEIAEEE ABEIETHAER
FE - BRSEH - RESHEORME - UARIBHE -
BE  HMHAKEY BRRATREANEETR
BMETHEZARNBEMRA -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Looking back, there are rooms for further improvement instead of
complacency. Moving forward, we shall proceed with valor and
resilience. In the new year, the Group will continue to adhere to the
mission of “respecting life, passing on tradition, and serving the
society”, further optimizing cemetery environment, improving green
coverage, and creating an ecological and idyllist resting place. At the
same time, the Group will actively promote intelligent construction
to provide our customers with more convenient and efficient services
by increasing the use of technology. In addition, the Group will also
put emphasis on passing on cultural tradition and organize more
memorial activities with more profundity in order to advocate the
virtue of filial piety, create a more cohesive society, and reward our
shareholders and the society with better performance!

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited
Zhao Ying Chairman of the Board
31 March 2025, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREBNW KD

Business Review

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was principally
engaged in the sale of burial plots, columbarium units and provision
of other burial-related services, provision of cemetery maintenance
services and provision of funeral services in Langfang, the PRC.

Sales of burial plots, columbarium units and provision of
other burial-related services

Burial services were the largest component of our revenue,
representing RMB31.7 million or 72.1% of our revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB45.2 million or 79.4%).

The burial services market in Langfang is concentrated. Demand for
our burial services and growth in our revenue are driven by the
overall demand for burial services in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large. We believe our reputation, quality of services,
and well-maintained and conveniently located facilities allow us to
compete effectively in Langfang. The Company is optimistic that this
operation will be continuously developed and expanded.

Provision of funeral services

Funeral services represented revenues from one-stop-shop services
such as the organisation and conducting of funeral services. Revenue
relating to these funeral services is recognised at a point in time
when the services have been provided and accepted by the
customer, and the payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the customer purchases the services. Our
revenue from provision of funeral services was RMB6.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB6.3 million).

Provision of cemetery maintenance services

We provide ongoing cemetery maintenance services as an integral
part of our burial services to maintain our beautiful landscaped
cemetery. Customers pay for maintenance fees upfront when they
sign the sales contracts to purchase the burial plots. Our revenue
from cemetery maintenance services was RMB5.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB5.5 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Business Outlook and Recent Development

The months around the Qing Ming Festival, a traditional festival for
tomb sweeping, including February, March and April, have always
been the peak seasons for the sales of the Group’s burial services. In
addition to the customers with normal demands of purchasing burial
plots for interment after their relatives passed away and being
cremated, we expect that there will be customers who need to
relocate columbarium or graves in the process of urban demolition
and renovation to purchase a burial plots or choose a columbarium
storage service tailored to their needs. The Group will continue to
uphold its belief, improve supporting environmental facilities, enrich
product offerings and enhance quality, and persist in upgrading our
"Cloud Tomb-sweeping” services. On top of ensuring stable and
ordered operation, we will continue to innovate and enhance our
cemetery operations and provide quality services to our customers.

The Group aspires to strengthen its market position in Langfang and
expand its business in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and beyond
through the following strategies.

Focus on developing the JV Cemetery Project

The joint venture cemetery project (the “JV Cemetery Project”)
between the Group and Langfang Xinhangcheng Real Estate
Development Co., Limited (BT MMk EhEFHEBR A F,
“Xinhangcheng”) is one of the major development projects of the
Group. In December 2024, the Group has made key progress by the
acquisition of 105.8 Mou (1) of funeral land for the JV Cemetery
Project by signing a state-owned land use rights transfer contract
and paying land transfer fees. The Group will continue its proactive
development and keep communicating with related governmental
departments to arrange for the approval of detailed construction
plans for the JV Cemetery Project at the next stage, and make every
effort to facilitate the approval procedures for the operating
cemeteries. The Directors believe that the implementation and the
continued development of and investment into the JV Cemetery
Project will facilitate the Group in consolidating and expanding its
market position in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to selectively acquire,
invest in or enter into strategic partnerships with other death care
services providers, including funeral services providers and cemetery
operators. The Group's selection criteria are based on, among other
things, brand name, location, land cost, land reserves and
profitability. The Group generally favors cemeteries located in
wealthy and densely populated provinces, where there is a higher
demand for high-quality death care services. In particular, the Group
seeks to prioritise business expansion opportunities with death care
services providers in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and bring synergy to
its current operations. Meanwhile, it will also explore potential
acquisition or investment in other regions. In addition to the
downstream industry of burial services, the Group is also committed
to seeking development in the upstream industry, for example,
palliative care services, to explore potential business opportunities
and to identify strategic alliance. Therefore, the Directors believe that
the Group will achieve industrial integration from aging to burial for
a diverse range of customers.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R M oA

Strengthen the market position in Langfang

Apart from the above JV Cemetery Project which represented an
initiative of the Group to further consolidate its market position and
reputation in Langfang, the Company believes that a more elegant
environment of the cemetery with warmer, more diversified and
person-centered services would enable the Company to address the
customers’ various needs and preferences. Thus, the Group will
launch various product types at different price point and optimize its
burial services. Meanwhile, the Group will continuously upgrade,
optimise and further develop its cemetery, especially the environment
in cemeteries, with a view to upgrading its facilities and diversifying
its service offerings. In addition to the further development of its
cemetery as mentioned above, in terms of our funeral services, the
Group will add more professional and diverse services. The Group
will also boost its effort in promotion and marketing, utilising online
sales platforms to promote the services of the Group through
multiple channels.

In addition, in view of the rapid development of Langfang, which is
benefited from the overall development of the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis, the local government has been carrying out the urban
planning and construction. During this process, it may involve the
migration of the villagers and resettlement of the cremains of their
deceased relatives. As a licensed and well established cemetery, in
possession of both capability and capacity, the Group provides
columbarium collective storage services to meet the demand arising
from the local government’s city development plan on one hand, and
broaden its income source on the other hand. The Group will
continue to cooperate with and support the local government’s city
development plan, providing funeral services and columbarium
storage services.

The Directors believe that, with the brand power and the well-
established reputation of the Group accumulated over a long time,
as well as the continued development of the projects above, we will
further consolidate and strengthen the Group’s market position in
Langfang.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Expand the business scope of the Group to
provide funeral services

The Group generated substantially all of its revenue from burial
services and has also forged stable business relationships with a
number of local funeral services providers which refer customers to
the Group. The Group began to provide extended burial services in
Langfang Funeral Parlour offering one-stop-shop funeral services to
the customers, including etiquettes, rules, wake and farewell
ceremony, which will continue to provide a stable source of
customers for the Group in the future. The Directors believe that
one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and burial services are able
to confer a significant competitive advantage, while also ensuring a
seamless and smooth experience at each stage of the process. In
addition, the Group’s staffs providing extended burial services in
Langfang Funeral Parlour (EB¥5 /& # £8) can introduce cemetery-
related services to customers and deal with pre-service business. The
Group will continue to provide professional and general skill training
for its employees and recruit funeral service specialists, in order to
provide more professional and comprehensive services to our
customers.

The Group will step up from providing only burial services to
providing integrated funeral services and burial services, where we
will launch different product types at different price points and add
more professional and diverse extended services in aspects such as
burial plot maintenance, burial and tomb-sweeping, so as to expand
and enhance our service package. Meanwhile, the Group will
proactively negotiate with the government and related departments
of Langfang concerning the future cooperation plans, in order to
provide more services for the locals and our customers, including the
provision of burial services, funeral services and columbarium storage
services, expanding our coverage through multiple channels.

The Group believes that the active progression and development of
the JV Cemetery Project and commencement of extended funeral
services can further strengthen the brand power and reputation of
the Group and allow for further recognition from the local
government, which will facilitate the Group in competing for
cooperation and expansion opportunities, and generate significant
revenue for the Group.

12 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R M oA

Tapping further into the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis

Leveraging the Group’s strategic location in Langfang and proximity
to regional hubs in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis, the Group continues
to pay effort to tap further into the burial services market in this
region, especially in Beijing, where local residents become
increasingly mobile with the integration of communities and the
construction of a web of high-speed intercity transportation
infrastructure. The Group plans to devote more marketing resources
to serving the neighboring cities and further develop cooperation
with local funeral services providers as its business partners.
Meanwhile, the Group plans to cooperate with local funeral homes
and hospital mortuaries to access bereaved families in a more direct
and more prompt way, so that the Group can react immediately to
provide high-quality one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and
burial services for its prospective customers.

Pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition
opportunities

Since the GEM listing, the Group has performed preliminary site visits
and researched for some potential acquisition opportunities for the
purpose of pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition opportunities
according to the future plans set out in the prospectus. Langfang
Wantong Public Cemetery Co., Limited (BB5i T &1 A E B 2 @,
“Langfang Wantong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, successfully won the bid of the JV Cemetery Project in
2020 and entered into a formal joint venture agreement with
Xinhangcheng to jointly establish Langfang Linkong Wantong Public
Cemetery Co., Limited (BB¥iERZ= &R AEZ AR A F), which is
responsible for land resumption, construction and operations and
management of the JV Cemetery Project. Since 2021, the Group
tapped into the funeral market in the lJing-Jin-Ji megalopolis,
continued the comprehensive development of the JV Cemetery
Project in an active manner, and completed the acquisition of land
for the construction of the JV Cemetery Project. Meanwhile, the
Company will continue to explore other suitable opportunities for
strategic alliance and acquisition in the future.
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Development and Fund Utilization Plan

The JV Cemetery Project is a major development project of the
Group, details of which are set out in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 30 June 2020, 24 August 2020 and 2
December 2024, respectively. As at the date of this report, the JV
Company has been jointly established by Langfang Wantong and
Xinhangcheng and has completed the land acquisition by way of an
agreement with relevant government departments.

The Company has been in the progress of obtaining relevant
approvals from government authorities for the construction of an
operational cemetery.

As at the date of this report, the registered capital of the JV
Company of RMB23.2 million payable by Langfang Wantong has not
been paid. During the development stage of the JV Cemetery
Project, the Group expected that such registered capital will be paid-
in in order to provide the JV Company with funds for the
development of the JV Cemetery Project.

In 2025 and 2026, the Group will build operating burial plots for
sales in the New Airport (Langfang area), Relocation and Settlement
Zone, Beijing* (Ut REF G (BRI BBLER) and partial
storage of the cremation urns and urns for villagers of the relocated
village in the airport economic zone, which will involve the
commencement of the construction and development of an
operational cemetery by the JV Company in accordance with the
planning of the Acquired Land, which is subject to government
approval. After the acquisition of the parcel of land located at north
side of Yongding Road and west side of Yongxing River of
Langfang, Hebei Province, the PRC (/R Bl Al 4k & BB &7 7Kk 5E B 4L Al ~
KB PE @A) with a site area of 70,546.27 square metres (the
“Land”), it is expected that the JV Company will develop and
construct buildings and ancillary facilities on the Land, including
office buildings, ancillary facilities, columbarium and cemetery, at an
estimated total development cost of approximately RMB50 million. In
addition, the administrative, labor and other miscellaneous expenses
to be incurred are estimated to be approximately RMB4 million.
Pursuant to the JV Agreement, the Group is under the obligation to
provide shareholder’s loan to the JV Company at the interest rate of
6.9% per annum for the JV Cemetery Project should there be capital
requirements. Langfang Wantong has provided a shareholder’s loan
to the JV Company to fund the acquisition of Land.
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The Company is of the view that 2025 to 2027 will be an important
period of time for the Group. The Company believes that it is well-
prepared to pursue its corporate goals. Leveraging its financial
resources, the Directors are confident that the Group will benefit
from its investment and create return for its shareholders and
enhance shareholders’ value.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had bank balances and cash
of RMB171.3 million, representing an excellent liquidity position. The
Board has proposed to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.55 cents per share in cash to the shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a total
payment of HK$5,500,000. Apart from the proposed final dividend
payment, the Company is confident that the Company will have
sufficient funds to swiftly and efficiently allocate and utilize such
immediately available funds as development costs of the Cemetery
JV Project as and when required. The Company has been preparing
for the further development of the business of the Group, and
believes that it is in a good position to grasp opportunities with the
cash accumulated, which gives the Group flexibility and minimizes
financing costs for development.

((

@

AR ERA05FEE2027E B AR EMERNE Q{
THE - AATMEER SRR L EHTR
SEE BEHMBER EEHEEASEEAS
HIRET% ARRAISEREIEA B REE -

MR2024F 128318 KRR BRITEHBLIE € A
R 1388 T eI EFg@
R © M AR AR R IR B =2024F12A31H
IEFEMRIPRESRSSEN - B 425
5,500,000 7T © Br i 2 IR B K EAR 8O0 - R A
FAIEEENAERRES BTNV ERIRRS B
SRR AEENNATERNESIEARRESRE
HEMBEKAR AR —HEEEHEASBER
HE— R RAEEERB N /REME
EMRSEERE B TAEEEEZT &KX
BERRKTEREMNRMEMAR -

2024 FEHE-TEERE(ZER) BERAF 15



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Financial Review
Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was substantially
generated from: (i) sale of burial plots, which includes the control of
the burial plots and headstones and other ancillary products to be
used on the burial plots; (ii) provision of other burial-related services
such as the organisation and conducting of interment rituals, the
design, construction and landscaping of the burial plots, and the
engraving of inscriptions and ceramic photographs on the
headstones; (iii) provision of funeral services; and (iv) provision of
cemetery maintenance services. The table below sets forth a
breakdown of our revenue:

Bt %% B B8

I 25

HFIE =2024F12A318 L FE RIS KD K
B:(O)EHMEE  BEEmEHELERENEM
FRNEMREE R (VEMEmBEERE - 0
MZY R BRTLEEANAREWN R BER
S8 REBHMABXEBEEREEERE
(iEERE  R(vERGERE - TXRH7FHAM
9 Uk 25 AR 48

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A3MBLLEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
1 48 3 Il
g = BAk I &= ERalsd
(RMB’000) % (RMB'000) %
(AR®Fx) % (ARETFT) %
Burial business IR
Sales of burial plots HEEM 25,002 56.8% 37,566 66.0%
Provision of other burial related TR E A E i AH
services AR 75 6,729 15.3% 7,611 13.4%
31,731 72.1% 45,177 79.4%
Provision of funeral services REBRERS 6,384 14.5% 6,259 11.0%
Provision of cemetery maintenance 1% fft & & # i R %
services 5,898 13.4% 5,495 9.6%
44,013 100.0% 56,931 100%
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Cost of sales and services tHE & AR K A

Cost of sales and services consists primarily of the costs we incurred & RIREKR AT E B FER MM E LIRHE RS
in relation to the sales and provision of our services. Our cost of — E A AR  F {F12024F B #5 & M IR R A B A
sales and services was RMB7.4 million in 2024 (2023: RMB9.2 R#7.4F &L (2023F : ARBI2ES L) WD
million), with a decrease of 19.6%. 19.6% °

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Percentage of Percentage of
total cost of total cost of
Cost of sales sales and Cost of sales sales and
and services services and services services
HBHEER HRHEE R
HER PR % FR A< HE & R 75 B A<
PR % B 2 Aok Bk 75 B 7R =i
(RMB’000) % (RMB’000) %
(AR®T ) % (AR FT) %
Burial business BEER 4,589 61.9% 6,486 70.6%
Provision of funeral REEERS
services 1,832 24.7% 1,962 21.4%
Provision of cemetery — R{EEE#E R
maintenance services 993 13.4% 731 8.0%
7,414 100.0% 9,179 100.0%

The Group’s cost of sales and services consists primarily of the costs ANEBEMEERREX AT EERERBEEE
it incurred in relation to the provision of its services, including the — BIEKA - BIEEBRA - THWEK AN - BERS
headstone cost, land acquisition cost, funeral services cost, cemetery (AN - EE 4 ER A ~ BIEMABAA A K EA -
maintenance cost, burial-related cost and others.

The Group's cost of sales and services for burial services decreased — 7N B 78 28 iR 75 #9856 & R 78 Ak AN 120234 H9 A
by 29.2% from RMB6.5 million in 2023 to RMB4.6 million in 2024, R#¥6.58 &L 229.2%E2024F M AR 468
primarily due to lower sales as a result of lower demand for burial &7t *ZEMHMN2024FEMNF R THEBEHEE
plot in 2024. The Group's cost of sales and services for cemetery T P& o 7K £ [B] £ [B] 4 2 19 $5 & I BR 7 Ak A8 F12023
maintenance increased from RMBO.7 million in 2023 to RMB1.0 FHMARMKOTEE L LA ZE2024FM AR08

e —

million in 2024. BT °
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EF R EF =
EF B W w0 8 B MR 7 A AN o B F92024F K
2023F M EFD B AARKEI AET R AR
47.8A&ETT °

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales and services. Our
gross profit for 2024 and 2023 was RMB36.6 million and RMB47.8
million, respectively.

Year ended 31 December

IOD 18

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Gross Gross profit Gross Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
X EFE 7 &
(RMB’000) % (RMB'000) %
(ARE T ) % (AR®BF L) %
Burial business V& T 3 TS 27,142 85.5% 38,691 85.6%
Provision of funeral REBEERS
services 4,552 71.3% 4,297 68.7%
Provision of cemetery — {R{EEE % &R
maintenance services 4,905 83.2% 4,764 86.7%
36,599 83.2% 47,752 83.9%

Our overall gross profit margin for 2024 and 2023 was 83.2% and
83.9%, respectively. Our relatively high gross profit margins during
the year were primarily due to (i) the relatively high gross profit
margins in the burial business; (ii) our ability to provide high-quality
burial services; and (iii) the relatively low land acquisition cost for our
cemetery.

Other income

The Group's other income increased by 17.1% from RMB3.5 million
in 2023 to RMB4.1 million in 2024, primarily due to the interest
income on bank deposits and amounts due from related parties.

Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses decreased by 3.7% from
RMB10.9 million for 2023 to RMB10.5 million for 2024.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses were RMB12.3 million in 2024, which is
small changes with 2023.
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Profit before tax

As a result of the above, our profit before tax decreased by 37.0%
from RMB26.2 million for 2023 to RMB16.5 million for 2024.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased by 22.1% from RMB8.6 million
for 2023 to RMB6.7 million for 2024, generally consistent with the
decrease of our gross profit.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Our profit and total comprehensive income for the year decreased by
44.3% from RMB17.6 million for 2023 to RMB9.8 million for 2024.
Our net profit margin decreased from 30.9% for 2023 to 22.4% for
2024.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
calculated based on the number of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares
was RMBO0.010 (basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023: RMBO0.018).

Cash Flow

Our cash and cash equivalents decreased by RMB63.7 million, which
was decreased to RMB171.3 million as at 31 December 2024 from
RMB235.0 million as at 31 December 2023, principally attributable to
investment cash outflow from the purchase of funeral land for the
cemetery joint venture project.

Pledge of assets

There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Inventories

Our inventories primarily consist of burial plots, columbarium units,
tombstones and others. The related carrying amounts of the
cemetery assets attributable to the burial plots and columbarium
units are transferred to inventory upon the commencement of
development of cemetery assets into burial plots with the intention
of sale in the ordinary course of business. Tombstones are
recognised as inventory when they are set up in the cemetery and
accepted by the Group. Inventories are transferred to cost when the
customer obtains the control of the burial plot. Our inventories
increased from RMB21.2 million as at 31 December 2023 to
RMB23.5 million as at 31 December 2024, mainly due to the
construction of the burial plots.
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Prepayments and other receivables

Our prepayments and other receivables increased from RMB42.0
million as at 31 December 2023 to RMB111.7 million as at 31
December 2024, primarily due to the settlement of the payment for
the JV Cemetery Project by the Group in December 2024, and the
land use rights was transferred to the Group in 2025, as well as
prepayments for part of the land demolition fee of the project.

Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables increased by 2.3% from RMB12.8
million as at 31 December 2023 to RMB13.1 million as at 31
December 2024, the increase is mainly due to an outstanding
payment of tombstones to suppliers.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations of provision of cemetery
maintenance services in accordance with the revenue recognition
policy and the nature of the business.

As at 31 December 2024, current contract liabilities amounted to
RMB6.8 million (31 December 2023: RMB7.4 million). The decrease is
mainly due to the columbarium storage service fees received in
advance in 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, non-current contract liabilities amounted
to RMB80.3 million (31 December 2023: RMB77.2 million). The
increase in non-current contract liabilities is mainly due to increase in
advances from customers during the current year.

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change to
the capital structure of the Company.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, we had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB171.3 million (2023: RMB235.0 million). We have
financed our working capital, capital expenditures and other capital
requirements primarily through income generated from our
operations. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank loan
or borrowings. In the future, we expect to fund our capital
expenditures, working capital and other capital requirements from
the Group's bank balances and cash, cash generated from our
operations and other borrowings.
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Gearing ratio

The Directors review the capital structure on annual basis. As part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risk
associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through payment of dividends, issue of new shares and repurchase
of shares as well as issue of new debts or the redemption of
existing debts.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, being total
liabilities to total assets, was 31.7% (2023: 30.9%), which indicated
the Group's healthy liquidity position.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisition and Disposal

The Group did not have significant investment, material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Contracts of significance

There is no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December
2024, no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries was made.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other future plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Employee remuneration and relations

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 73 employees
(2023: 75 employees). The Group provides employees with
competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration policy
will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance and
contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration level. In
addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects.
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Operating lease

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no lease payment
receivables (2023: nil).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital commitments in
respect of expenditure in intangible assets (2023: nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business is principally denominated in Renminbi. As
certain bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
No currency hedging arrangement had been made by the Group
during the year. The Directors have positive attitude to regular
monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEERHE

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establish and maintain good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeqguard the interests of
Shareholders, enhance corporate value and formulate its business
strategies and policies. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board has adopted its own code on corporate governance practices
which incorporate all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
"Listing Rules”). The Directors will continue to review its corporate
governance practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard and ensure further standards be put in place by reference
to the recommended best practices whenever suitable and
appropriate.

This Corporate Governance Report is to outline the major principles
of the Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders are
encouraged to make their views known to the Group if they have
issues with the Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise
any matters of concern to the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(“"“W\

EFRRARZAAABRE0245128081LF [

EHEERERBRSE

TtEERER
RATBANBIRERRIFCEEATHARRER
EFZeHE RUCEERREZFRFTE AKX
NERHIESR  UREEREOF = BASE
BE KB EEBRR REE - & £20245124
BNALFE EESCHEMNEEBESTHNLEETARY
MR B EEBIMES EMAATETR
AID M srC1ATE D EE AT RI(TEE AR
FTETAEY EEHEERITECESTARER
NIBAEDGEERIZE  WHRARABERBEER
DERBLRETHRE-—SLHERE-

ALREERMEAARNAREEE AN T ERA -
HWEREARFEEERERAEMMARE - AN
BRAASERLEN TANEEAEEEE
BUEREDROEMZEINEE-

B E2024F1N2A3MHIEFE - ARAIE BT
EIAST R FTH 2 5P AIMESC -

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF 23



Corporate Governance Report
PREAHmE

Board of Directors

Our Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising one Non-
executive Director (“NED"), three Executive Directors (“EDs"”) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The powers
and duties of our Board include convening general meetings and
reporting our Board’s work at our Shareholders’ meetings,
determining our business and investment plans, preparing our annual
financial budgets and final reports, formulating proposals for profit
distributions as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties
as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report was as follows:

EEg

EEeRNHEERESEN BRE—RIERITE
AR TEERCRABURITEE -ES
EMENLMBEREAARERSEIRABRRERE
tEREFENIE BEEEBRIEETE &
BFEHRBEREFRE - #ERMNDIREZ
LARATEABERRA R AR TR EamESD -
BB E - TKREIHE2024F12A31H EF
ERBEARENHESSNRERE

Name of Director Position

BEEpE B

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
i 2 FHITESHER

Li Xingying Executive Director

F FL58 HITEF

Wang Wei Executive Director

T %k HITEF

Huang Peikun Executive Director

= 1 1 HITEF

Cheung Ying Kwan Independent Non-executive Director
o FE BUHITESR

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Independent Non-executive Director
F oK BUHITESR

Choi Hon Keung, Simon Independent Non-executive Director
X BUHITESR

DI 24

There is no relationship between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer (or the deputy Chief Executive Officer). Except Ms.
Zhao Ying and Ms. Wang Wei are mother and daughter, the
Directors do not have financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical details of the
Directors and other senior management are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages from 37 to 42 of this annual report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management, businesses,
strategic directions, financial performance and monitoring business
and performance. The Board provides high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management and holds regular meetings to
discuss the Group’s businesses and operations. All Directors carry out
their duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
involving conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management team. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole. The Board
also gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report back, and
will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
delivery of the Board functions.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) with measurable objectives. A diverse Board will
include and make good use of differences in the skills, industry
knowledge and experience, education, race, age, gender,
background and other qualities of directors. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
three of which are female. The Nomination Committee considered
that the composition of the Board is sufficiently diverse (including in
terms of gender) and appropriate for the management and business
development of the Company. The Board will give consideration to
the objectives for the factors as set out in the Board Diversity Policy
for assessing the candidacy of the Board members in the future,and
will ensure that any successors to the Board shall follow the Board
Diversity Policy and that gender diversity will be achieved in respect
of the Board. As at 31 December 2024, the male to female ratio in
the workforce of the Group (including the senior management) was
approximately 53:20. Opportunities for employment, training and
career development are equally opened to all eligible employees
without discrimination. The Group considers a number of factor
when hiring employees including gender, age, cultural and education
background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company considered the
gender ratio of the workforce is appropriate and balanced taking
into account the nature of the industry.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will continue to monitor
the structure of the Board and workforce, as well as the
implementation of Board Diversity Policy, and assess whether any
plans or measurable objectives should be set. The Board recognizes
the importance of diversity and will ensure that any successor to the
Board complies with the Board Diversity Policy.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with and
on terms no less exacting than the required standard in the Model
Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquires of the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company during the period from the date of listing up to the date
of this report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are carried out by different individuals. The role of Chairman
is held by Ms. Zhao Ying, the role of Chief Executive Officer is
temporarily vacant and the equivalent duties are held by the deputy
Chief Executive Officer, namely Ms. Li Xingying. The Chairman
provides leadership for the Board and ensures its effectiveness in all
aspects. The Chief Executive Officer has the delegated power to
monitor the daily operation and management of the Company. The
Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the Board and the
need of appointment of a suitable candidate to perform the role of
Chairman.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed
three INEDs representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of INEDs are primarily to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board
meetings.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors
were independent during the year ended 31 December 2024 in
accordance with the independence guidelines in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Board Independence

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Board has developed and maintained the following measures and
mechanisms, including but not limited to:

(i) at least one-third of Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

(i) every independent non-executive Director is appointed for a

specific term and subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years;
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(iii)  no independent non-executive Director has served the Company
for more than nine years;

(iv)  no independent non-executive Director holds more than six
listed company directorships to make sure that each of
independent non-executive Directors has sufficient time to
make contributions to the Board,

(v) the Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate for independent non-executive Director before
appointment;

(v no equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors; and

(vii) the Directors may seek professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
relevant measures mechanisms during the ended 31 December
2024.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the EDs is engaged on a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a
letter of appointment for a term of three years to the NED and each
of the INEDs.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are governed by the Articles of Association. The
Company has established a Nomination Committee which is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of the Directors and assessing
the independence of the INEDs.

The Articles of Association provides that any Director so appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting (“AGM") of the Company after his appointment
and be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been in
office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy. The Nomination
Committee invites nominations of candidates from members of the
Board and may also put forward other candidates. Before making
recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee reviews
and assesses the suitability of candidates for directorship, according
to certain assessment criteria, including but not limited to
experience, professional qualifications, educational background, skills,
knowledge, integrity, potential contributions to the Board, and by
making reference to the board diversity policy, the Company’s needs
and the current composition of the Board. For candidates of
independent non-executive Directors, the Board will also consider
their independence. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4. of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year ended 31
December 2024, all Directors, including Ms. Zhao Ying, Ms. Li
Xingying, Ms. Wang Wei, Mr. Huang Peikun, Mr. Cheung Ying
Kwan, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert and Mr. Choi Hon Keung,
Simon had studied updates, guidances and other materials relevant
to corporate governance and other regulatory requirements in order
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings
are held when significant events or important issues are required to
be discussed and resolved.

The following table indicates the number of Board, committee and
general meetings during the financial year and the number of
attendance by each of the Directors:
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HE BTEHRRY

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General

Name ] Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting

Exe ENZEEE® ¥HHMEEE REZEE REKXE
Non-executive Director and Chairman FHTESHERE
Zhao Ying A 44 — 11 ”n 11
Executive Directors HTES
Li Xingying FEE 4/4 - — — 1”1
Wang Wei B 4/4 — — — n
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made. The terms of reference of the
three committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and Code Provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely the independent non-executive
Directors Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Audit Committee
is Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist our Board by providing an independent view
of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management system of our Group, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, reviewing our financial information and disclosures,
to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our policies and
to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

During 2024, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to review and
discuss the relevant drafts of interim and annual financial statements,
results announcements and reports of the Group and review the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely the
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
and Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan, and the executive Director, Ms. Zhao
Ying. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy and structure
for the remuneration of all our Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policies; (i) making recommendations
to our Board on the remuneration packages of our Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to our Board's corporate
goals and objectives; and (iv) reviewing and approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the model to delegate the remuneration
committee to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

During 2024, the Remuneration Committee met 1 time to assessing
performance of the executive directors and review the remuneration
policies and remuneration packages (including fees, salaries, bonus,
allowance, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments) of the Directors and make recommendations to the
Board.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three
members, namely the executive Director, Ms. Zhao Ying, and the
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Ms. Zhao Ying. The primary function of the
Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to our Board on
appointment of members of our Board. During 2024, the
Nomination Committee held 1 meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and concluded that the members of
the Board have possessed the expertise and independence to carry
out the Board’s functions and responsibilities.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
(amended and restated with effect from 16 December 2020), the
Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and professional
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. Based on such factors, the Nomination Committee shall also
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships.

In selecting new directors or filling casual vacancies, the Nomination
Committee will consider the candidate’s professional qualification
and skill, integrity and reputation, achievement and experience in the
industry in which the Company operates, as well as his time
commitment. The Nomination Committee will nominate candidates it
considers appropriate with reference to the standards of the Board
Diversity Policy and the procedures and principles set out in the
Nomination Policy.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards.

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment of interim and annual reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on

the financial statements of the Group are set out in the section of
"Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and the Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report contained in the Company’s annual
reports.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB1,050,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable for
the services provided by the Company’s auditor are set out as
follows:

Services rendered

12 6 19 IR 3%
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Fees paid/payable
B ERER

Statutory audit services

ETE B AL IR

Non-audit services

FEZR

Interim review

T E R

RMB1,050,000
A E#1,050,0007T

RMB380,000
A K #380,0007T

Remuneration of Senior Management

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management is set out by band as follows:

B R EEE M

HE2024F12A3MHIEFE o EEBEKEMN
TR HERZ27 0T

Number of employees

EEBAH
2024 2023
20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0005 7T, 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognises the overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance, and review of the risk management and internal
control system and an effective risk management and internal
control system enhances the Group’s ability in achieving business
objectives, safeguarding assets, complying with applicable laws and
regulations and contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency of its
operations. The senior management reviews and evaluates the
control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and
reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures
include a comprehensive budgeting, information reporting and
performance monitoring system. The Company has established an
internal audit function. The Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and the Group's
risk management and internal control system annually, covering all
key control, including financial, operational and compliance. The
result of review will be reported to the Board and some measures
would be proposed if there is any area for improvement. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and considered them effective and adequate.

The Group also attaches great importance to ESG risk management
and internal control mechanism. Based on the overall ESG
management concept, the Group regularly reviews the ESG workflow
and arrangements for business operation and internal audit every
year. An ESG working group has been established to be responsible
for execution and monitoring the ESG policy of cemetery, identifying
ESG-related risks and reflecting them to the Board to ensure that the
Group has set up an appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control system.

Company Secretary

Ms. To Yee Man (“Ms. To"”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 29 September 2023. Ms. To had taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The biographical details of Ms. To are set
out under the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”.
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Shareholders’ Right

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders of the Company and the
Board. An AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board.

Right to Convene EGM and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGM shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

EGM shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The
written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong marked with the attention of the
company secretary, and such may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Enquires to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquires to the Board in writing to
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.

Enquiry Contact:

By email: admin@Ifwty.com

By post: Unit 6A02, 6/F
Wah Kit Commercial Centre
302 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Attention: Public Relationship
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Investors Relations

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy.
According to the policy, the Company need to ensure effective and
timely communication of information to the shareholders and
potential investors and maintain various communication channels.
The Company has maintained a continuing dialogue with the
Company’s shareholders and investors through various channels,
including, among others, the Company’s annual, and interim reports,
notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
www.chinawty.com. The Company also holds press conferences from
time to time at which the Executive Directors and senior
management of the Group are available to answer questions
regarding the Group's business and performance.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholder communication policy. Considering that the multiple
communication channels with Shareholders and potential investors
maintained during the year, the Company considered that the policy
remained effective and has been properly implemented.

Constitutional Documents

There was no changes to the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Inside Information

The Company regulates the handling and propagation of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and as indicated in the corporate responsibility policy and various
affiliate proceedings to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the propagation of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about the due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information with the latest regulatory updates.
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) consists of seven Directors,
comprising one non-executive Director, three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

ZHAO Ying (#58)
Non-executive Director and Chairman

Ms. ZHAO Ying (#%, “Ms. Zhao"), aged 54, joined the Group in
January 2017 and was further designated as a non-executive
Director in March 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a director of
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, since January 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a
director of Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (B85 1 4%
1% b E F 2 B R A 7)) since February 2008 and a non-executive
director of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company
Limited (FEIZREZEMHEER AR A, stock code: 6166, delisted
on 6 December 2022) from 18 February 2014 to 19 July 2021. Ms.
Zhao is the mother of Ms. Wang Wei, an executive Director. She is
the settlor, sole member of The Hope Trust's protective committee
and a beneficiary of The Hope Trust, which is a discretionary trust
the trustee of which indirectly holds 700,000,000 Shares. Ms. Zhao
is therefore deemed to be interested in 700,000,000 Shares,
representing 70% of the issued share capital of the Company under
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571).

LI Xingying (2= 58)
Executive Director, and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Ms. LI Xingying (Z=EZE, “Ms. Li"), aged 46, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2017. Ms. Li has 21 years of experience in
burial services industry. Ms. Li joined the Group in November 2007. She
has been serving as the legal representative and general manager of
Langfang Wantong Public Cemetery Co., Limited (ERS7 EBIHAEBR A
Al). Ms. Li has been the sole executive director, legal representative and
general manager of Langfang Wantong since May 2015. She has been
serving as the legal representative of Langfang City Wantong Funeral
Services Co., Ltd. (B¥ITm ERABEZERBEBRAF), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Wantongyuan Investment since March
2017 and has been serving as an executive director of Langfang
Wantong since May 2015. She has been serving as the legal
representative and chairman of Langfang Linkong Wantong Cemetery
Co., Ltd. (BB¥1ERZE &2 ZE AR A7) since 31 July 2020,
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Before joining the Group, she served as a clerk and cashier of Wan
Tong Yuan from March 1999 to September 2000 and a salesperson
in Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (R 3 [& 55 3 &
2 AR 2 Al from September 2000 to March 2003. From March
2003 to October 2005, Ms. Li served as the marketing manager of
Wan Tong Yuan, responsible for the overall management of the
customers’ services center and business administration thereof. Ms. Li
served as the general manager of Wan Tong Yuan from October
2005 to November 2007 and the executive general manager of
Langfang Wantong from November 2007 to May 2015.

WANG Wei (£ %)
Executive Director

Ms. WANG Wei (£%%, “Ms. Wang"), aged 32, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2021. Ms. Wang was an executive
Director of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company
Limited (Stock code: 6166, delisted on 6 December 2022) from
6 November 2017 to 6 November 2022. Ms. Wang is the daughter
of Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman of the Group, a non-executive
director and a controlling Shareholder. Ms. Wang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics in June 2013, and has extensive experience in corporate
finance and mergers and acquisitions.

HUANG Peikun (& £ i)
Executive Director

Mr. HUANG Peikun (&=1%3#, “Mr. Huang”), aged 62, was appointed
as an executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company
in March 2021. Mr. Huang has 19 years of experience in business
management. He received his master's degree in Management
Science and Engineering (“%& ¥ & £ B T 72”) from Zhejiang
University (“J#7) T KE"), located in the PRC, in December 1999 and
his Executive Master of Business Administration degree from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (" &#& R AE"),
in June 2012. He was qualified as a senior accountant (“/= &% & &t
fl") of the Department of Personnel Affairs of Guangdong Province
("EHRAASE") in February 2000. Mr. Huang was an executive
director of China Merchants Land Limited (Stock code: 978) from
2 June 2012 to 8 August 2013 and an executive director of China
VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (Stock code:
6166, delisted on 6 December 2022) from 17 March 2014 to
19 July 2021.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

DO

A ZN &£ E AT %R 19994E3 8 2000698 (£ &
ME & B 3 W R 8 - 2000498 E20034F3A f
B M EEEREER QRS 8 - 20034
3AE2005F10A T - EEMEEHEEE 8
ERFRBAONBEEENEBEE -T2 L
M20054F108 EZ2007F M AT B IWE AKE - I
20074118 2015658 T B 51 & i #1742 &
I o

T %

WITES

TELE(ELE]) 3255 R2021F3 8 EEZ T
BEITEE - T M2017F11H6H 22022911
ReBEEHREEZREXMEERBRAA KRN
R 8% 6166 ° B F2022F12A6H B M) #h 17 &
F-FRTAAEEEE ERTEZFTRIERR
REBEZLT TR T LHN2013F6 A ERE
HIiERESREE LT BN RNERREZTIR
HEFTEEBEEELR -

= 5

HITESE

EHFEMAE([ELEE]D 6255 M2021F3A B £
FAERTEERARAVBRE -FEEERNER
BEIRFE R19F £ 5 o M R1999F 12 A BT T
AEERETERB2HE TIRE LB KH2012F6
REEXEREERFRE ESaREREAEBLR
EIBME T B o HN2000F 2 EERE AEERT
AE et o B AEMN20129F6 A28 £201348
FeBHIMHETREBEM AR A7 (&K R T :
978) M TE £ - W H2014F37178 £2021F7
BIOB I AP REZEEMELZESR QT
(B K 5% - 6166 B 7R2022F 12 A6H E ™) M #
TE=E-



Biographlgs of Directors and Senior Management
EFENEREEERE

CHEUNG Ying Kwan (3K J& )
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHEUNG Ying Kwan (3R &3, “Mr. Cheung”), aged 65, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September
2017. Mr. Cheung has more than 24 years of experience in finance
and accounting. Mr. Cheung has been the company secretary of
China Mental Resources Utilization Limited (1 B & /& & /R | B A& R
‘A 7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
1636) since February 2014. Mr. Cheung served as the financial
controller of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited (23R REER B
R A &]) from March 2006 to August 2013, the qualified accountant
and company secretary of Goldigit Atom-tech Holdings Limited (/2
B FRFERAER AR (currently known as Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd. (&I BBEBEERER AR, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2362) from
April 2001 to March 2006, an independent non-executive director of
Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (3t T &7 IE
EBREEMARM AR A A, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 1858) from March 2015 to March 2018, an
independent non-executive director of ZACD Group Ltd. (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) from
December 2017 to January 2019, an independent non-executive
director of Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (& ##F %A R A 7)) (Stock
code: 1462, delisted on 16 March 2021) from February 2016 to May
2019, and an independent non-executive director of Tian Shan
Development (Holding) Limited (KL & (IF) BR A 7A]) (Stock
code: 2118, delisted on 31 October 2023) from June 2010 to
October 2022.

Mr. Cheung has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2000 and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1995. Mr. Cheung obtained a diploma in
fabric manufacturing from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 1981.
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WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (F sk 1)
Independent non-executive Director

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ :k#, “Dr. Wong”), aged 73, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
audit committee and the chairman of remuneration committee in
September 2017. Dr. Wong has approximately 30 vyears of
experience in accounting. Dr. Wong has a broad range of experience
serving as an independent non-executive director of various listed
companies, including APAC Resources Limited (2 K EJRBRAF], a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1104) since
July 2004, Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (f% 88 RIERR AR A
7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 757)
since January 2008, China Merchants Land Limited (BB B E B R
‘A 7|], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 978)
since June 2012 and China Medial & HealthCare Group Limited (1
HEEHE4E AR AR, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 383) since December 2018. Dr. Wong served as an
independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial Urban
Development Company Limited (FEB 2R EXMBEZERER DA, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 6166 and
delisted on 6 December 2022) from August 2014 to December
2022, and Capital Finance Holdings Limited (& #0 & BT A R A A,
a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code
8239) from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2022 and Dexin China
Holdings Company Limited (f2{5 R EZ AR A7, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2019) from January 2019 to
June 2024. He served as a principal consultant of KND & Co. CPA
Limited (G 3Z & 51BN =7 1A R 2 &) from April 1994 to December
2017. Dr. Wong has been appointed as a principal consultant of
KND Associates CPA Limited (785, & 5T B 17 B BR 2 &) since January
2018.

Dr. Wong received a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Bulacan State University, Republic of the
Philippines in December 2010. Dr. Wong is a member of the
following institutions, including: a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries; a fellow member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong; a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute; a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants; a fellow member of Society of Registered Financial
Planners; a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; an
associate member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland;

and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practicing
Accountants.
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CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (%% 38)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (£5)%£3%, “Mr. Choi"), aged 64, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director in September
2017. Mr. Choi has more than 9 years of experience in corporate
governance. Mr. Choi served as an executive director of Imperium
Financial Group Limited (FEl & @t & E AR A7), a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code 8029) from June
2021 to June 2022; an independent non-executive director of Boyaa
Interactive International Limited (1§ B BEIFR AR A A, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 434) since October
2013. He served as an independent non-executive director of
Kenford Group Holdings Limited (Zf@& BT AR A 7], a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 464) from August
2011 to September 2017. Mr. Choi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
laws from Peking University (3t X KZ) in 1991 and a master's
degree in laws from The University of London in 1992. Mr. Choi
received his Common Professional Examination Certificate in Laws
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong in June 1994 and September 1995, respectively. Mr. Choi was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the UK in November 1997
and June 1998, respectively.

Senior Management

Our senior management is
management of our business.

responsible for the day-to-day

LIU Fengxue (2Bl £2)

Mr. LIU Fengxue (ZIBlZ, "Mr. Liu"), aged 43, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Liu is currently the vice president of general
administration of the Company and a deputy general manager of
Langfang Wantong, being responsible for the daily operation and
general management of the Group. Mr. Liu has more than 19 years
of experience in logistical and corporate support. After joining the
Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security in Langfang Wantong
from November 2007 to June 2016, and he was promoted as the
head of logistical support department and deputy general manager
of Langfang Wantong in July 2010 and June 2016, respectively. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security team of
Lanshuiwan Property Management (E57K/&#)%) of Langfang City
Hengtai Services Co., Ltd. (BB¥H mE R R B B R A &) from
November 2002 to November 2007.
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CHU Yunli (&8 Z F)

Mr. CHU Yunli (#8Z %, “Mr. Chu"), aged 53, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Chu is currently the financial controller of the
Company, being responsible for the overall management of financial
reporting and cost management of the Group. Mr. Chu has been the
financial controller at Langfang Wantong since he joined the Group.
Mr. Chu has 16 years of experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Chu attended correspondence courses (%) and received his
associate degree (RX) in accounting from Beijing Institute of
Business (1t 5 £ %) (currently known as Beijing Technology and
Business University (b 5 T K ) in July 1997.

GAO Ping (&%)

Ms. GAO Ping (=3, “Ms. Gao”), aged 43, joined the Group in
November 2007 and has more than 19 years of experience in
customer services and marketing. Ms. Gao is currently the vice
president of marketing of the Company and has been the marketing
manager of Langfang Wantong since its establishment, being
responsible for the overall management of the marketing department
of the Group. She has also been a supervisor of Wantongyuan
Investment since March 2017, being responsible for monitoring and
overseeing the company’s financial matters and supervising the
conduct of the board of directors and senior management. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Gao served as the sales executive of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the
marketing manager of Langfang Economic and Technological
Development Area Yongsheng Real Estates Development Co., Ltd.
(B F#ERXAEMERZEERAA) from November 2003 to
October 2005.

Ms. Gao attended correspondence courses (E4#) and obtained her
associate degree (KXZ) in Physical Education from Hebei Institute of
Physical Education (7 it B2 & 2B3) in July 2003.

To Yee Man (it &)

Ms. TO Yee Man (4K, “Ms. To"), aged 40, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in September 2023, being
responsible for the overall administrative management of the Group
and advising the Board on corporate governance matters. Ms. To has
over 18 years of experience in corporate governance, mergers and
acquisitions, auditing and financial management. She graduated from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2006 with a
bachelor’'s degree in business administration in operations
management and accounting. She is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Principal Activities and Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group was
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots, columbarium units and
provision of other burial-related services, provision of cemetery
maintenance services and provision of funeral services.

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, an analysis using financial key
indicators as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) can be found in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section, which forms part of this Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Results

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 62 of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a general dividend policy that aims to
provide the shareholders of the Company out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors: (i) the actual and expected financial results of the
Group; (i) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; (iii) the Group’s business strategies,
including future cash commitments and investment needs to sustain
the long-term growth aspect of the business; (iv) the current and
future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group; and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Dividends

The Board has proposed to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.55 cents per share in cash to the shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1
cents), representing a total payment of approximately HK$5,500,000.
The final dividend is subject to approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM"”) of the Company
proposed to be held on Thursday, 29 May 2025. Upon shareholders’
approval to be obtained at the AGM, the final dividend will be
payable on or around Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to the shareholders of
the Company whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company at the close of business on Friday, 6 June 2025.

As at the date of this report, the Board is not aware of any
shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties Facing by the
Group

The followings are part of the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

The Group operate one cemetery in Langfang and any significant
downturn of the regional economy or changes in local regulatory
regime or burial practices could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The
management regularly review and adapt our services to cater to the
customs and preferences of the local residents in order to retain
existing customers and to attract prospective customers.

The death care industry in China, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and land
supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group’s business
expansion. The Group have adopted internal guidelines to ensure
that the sale of burial plots to living customers satisfy these
conditions as required by the relevant laws.

There are uncertainties associated with the expansion of our
business. The successful implementation of our expansion strategies
may be influenced by various factors such as our ability to identify
suitable business opportunities or expansion plans on our cemetery,
to obtain government and other third-party consents, permits and
licenses that are required to operate our business. The expansion of
our burial services is also dependent on customer satisfaction and
our marketing efforts. In order to maintain growth in our business,
it may be necessary for the Group to implement marketing initiatives
to create public awareness and acceptance of our services.

Key Relationships with Employees,
Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a
caring environment to employees and emphasise the personal
development of its employees. The Group maintains a good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. The Group aims to
continue providing quality products and services to our customers
and establishing co-operation strategy with our suppliers.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and China. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong. Our establishments and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, China
and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
the Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company (including sale of
treasury shares) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024 under review and as of 31 December
2024 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Premium and Reserves

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group during
the year under review are set out on page 65 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

The Company’s distributable reserves were RMB7,230,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB917,000).
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Charitable Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group donated and
constructed the “Langfang Organ Donation Memorial Park” public
welfare project, with a donation amount of RMB858,263 (2023: Nil).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the single largest
customer accounted for 2.9% (2023: 1.7%) of the Group's revenue.
Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers did not accounted
for 30% or more of the Group's total revenue (2023: Nil). Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
40.8% (2023: 44.2%) of the total purchases for the year ended 31
December 2024 and purchases from the single largest supplier
accounted for 26.9% (2023: 24.1%) of the Group's total purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors,
their close associates, nor any of the Shareholders of the Company
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

Remuneration Policy and Retirement Benefits
of the Group

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 73 employees
(31 December 2023: 75 employees). The Group provides employees
with competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration
policy will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance
and contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration
level. The remuneration of a Director is determined with reference to
his/her experience, qualification, duties, responsibilities and the
prevailing market conditions. In addition, the Group also provides
various training courses to enhance the employees’ skills and
capabilities in all aspects. Details of the Group’s retirement benefit
plans are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report were:

(((((

(«

BEE

HZE2024F12A3HLEFEREEARERA S
ARBZEZZENT :

Name of Director Position

BEEpE B8 1

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
iR FUTESHRER

Li Xingying Executive Director

FE A WMITEF

Wang Wei Executive Director

F %k WMITEF

Huang Peikun Executive Director

= IE WMITEF

Cheung Ying Kwan Independent Non-executive Director
o FE 1R BUERITESF

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Independent Non-executive Director
F oKt BUERITESF

Choi Hon Keung, Simon Independent Non-executive Director
iz BUERITESF

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 37 to 42 of this annual report.

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years which
may be extended as each and the Company may agree, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
("AGM") in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Article 108 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one vyear
without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with
him/her or Controlling Shareholder of the Company (and any of its
subsidiaries) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during the
financial year under review.

Directors’ Rights to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year under
review, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18,
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any
such right.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MMM

EERBELN
BERNEERREFASEEEF2ES A
AEBEMNKE AR LANEBENAIE —FARK
e A EHEEE CEERBERIN 2 REA K -

EERXE  ZRHEREHNZESR

WA BRFERLCESBFEEMSRE B8
ARA(REAEMNBLR)EFREM, AR
VERSEERRRNERNEEXKEER MAR
ACHEAMNBRARRGHNNTZEARS LH
FENEERBEEFEAES -

EERERNUBEEZE ZER

BAREHEEEN ROBEFEAR ARAR
H AL I B 2 B39 8 2 B 5] S R BF AR 2 AR
RAEEABEBBALRRR KM EMEARE
RO EEIE 2T AESHNGS  THEESHE
EARBRTNARNA T FRERTEMERN AR
BARRHEMEMEABB ZRALEEE -
HATEAEM B EER -



Directors’ Report
EEgRE

(“"“W\

EERESTRASRRO &%

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in

Shares

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”),
were as follows:

R2024F12A31A  EEREETRAEHER
RABREFMBE ZE (TERFHLBEKDN
(IBHRBEE]) EXVI) 2% - HERG &
ERFFHREEREESFRBEBRONEXNVHETR
SO HMHMEARARNBI RE R T2 s RAR (BIER
BEEREBAEEDB BRGSO EEEESRIERE
BEZEEmIARE) HREES KHEKHI 5352
BECHERARAIGEzE Mz EEIRAE
SARE ETRAM SR CIETEH M EMBEITAEZESE
TERFRGMZRESFANMRESRD B ARQ
BRIz ERRABIT

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interests securities held shareholding
EEMR EEME FIEE5EE BRESIEI T
Ms. Zhao Ying (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence 700,000,000 (L) 70%
how the trustee exercises its discretion (Note 1) (Note 3)
ALt (M 5E2) SRETBIZA AIREZRATER 700,000,000 (L) 70%
(SRR Jrdya: (P 5E1) (B 5E3)

Notes: 3 -

(1) The letter “L" denotes long position of the Shares of the Company.

(2) Ms. Zhao Ying is the chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company. She is the settlor, sole member of The Hope Trust's
protective committee and a beneficiary of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of The Hope
Trust. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. wholly owns the entire share capital of Lily
Charm Holding Limited. Lily Charm Holding Limited wholly owns the
entire issued share capital of Tai Shing International Investment
Company Limited. Therefore, Ms. Zhao Ying is deemed to be
interested in the 700,000,000 Shares directly held by Tai Shing
International Investment Company Limited.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

(1) BXFEILIKRTARBABRMOBZER -

(2) HAZTRARFTEREFIIFWNITESE K AThe
Hope Trust8f E#E T ARZ @ A * JAKThe Hope
TrustiREZ B g 2 —AK 8 ° The Hope TrustA2
# 155t » MTMF (Cayman) Ltd. &The Hope Trusts
5 A cTMF (Cayman) Ltd.% & # ALily Charm
Holding Limited, % &7 < Lily Charm Holding
Limited2 EHE REBEBEREFRAT 2 2HE
BITRA Bt BEXIHBANTRERRK
EHMR AR AR A 2700,000,0008% i 17 # A
g o

(3) AR 2024512 A31 8 B 317 .2.1,000,000,000
BRRDEE -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or any other members of the Group.

B E P EEE SN 0 20245128318 - BEEARD
RIBEENESITHABRAR R s H AT M A8
E(EEREBHFRBEEHEXVI) 2G5 - HE
Bty R EEERRAAREES RIS GG EXY
EEET 8, B AN S A N ) M B <X BT 2 AT ] E b A
BRAR (PEREEFRBERIBEBEXES
WEEARIEREZEZIAR)  IBREBEHR
Hifﬂﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁszﬂ 2,\paﬁ#$"TTEZiEpEﬁHZ
$ BRAR R BZETRHANEAD

R ZEBESIKE ©

FERRRAQARG K EERS
ZHEBERAR

20244128310 - SLEERA - AT AL/ B
(KEE%%&?E?TB{AEB?ﬁl\)ﬁﬂxf’ﬁiﬁ?ﬁ
RO ERBRIEES B EGEGEXVIEEEFE2R3
"*BE’JMXWZK AW EZEDIAE  HBRE
BENMBEKRAIEIBFRELHNR AN FELE
.:EHHZT& SRR NEBSREEBEEWEER

—H-Eﬁfr*ﬁ_\ MTERAARRTHANEBMIMEMKE
NAREEREARE R ZEW T M LB R AEE10%
A B o

Approximate

Number of percentage of

securities held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 5)

BERE

FisESHE BHEIL

BREE BB ERME (B &ET) (B 3£5)

Tai Shing International Beneficial owner (Note 2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Investment Company

Limited

RERBRKEBRAR EREA A M) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited  Interest in a controlled corporation (Notes 2, 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited — S3E;xE R (552 - 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee (Notes 2, 3, 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. ZFEA(FIE2 -3+ 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
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Notes:

(1) The letter “L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited directly holds
700,000,000 Shares.

(3) Lily Charm Holding Limited holds the entire of issued share capital of
Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited, thus Lily Charm
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in the 700,000,000 Shares.

(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman and non-
executive Director of the Company. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. directly holds
the entire issued share capital of Lily Charm Holding Limited.
Therefore, TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is deemed to be interested in
700,000,000 Shares.

(5) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons, except disclosed below under
"Other persons’ interests and short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company” other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company and its associated corporations which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.

((

) N
(@
A #',,
HisE - 1‘/
(1) BXFEHILIERTRZELR/ ATRBROFHGTE -
() FREBIEEFRRAFEEIFHF700,000,0008% 24
RNEIRED °

(3) L|Iy Charm Holding Limited#% & &% B[ 1% & AR
2 HE B B ATAR A - BitLlily Charm Holding
lelted%ﬂzﬁ%Woo 000,000/ f& 1 fh 5 &5 »

(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. &The Hope TrustZ 3L A * M
The Hope Trust BN R Al EFBRIEVITESHAEL
TR 2 2S5 ° TMF (Cayman) Lid. HIEERE B
Lily Charm Holding Limited 2 2 8 2 81T IR A ©
It * TMF (Cayman) Ltd.#% 48 & #2700,000,000% %
DHRREEER -

(5) o Eb 3% 142024412 A31H B %77 ,21,000,000,000
W&P?éo
B EXATEEEIN - R2024F12A31H - BT X

[E M ALTRARA R & EEB D2 # s MoK
RIMBEEIN EFHAIABZEEMAL (AR
AEENESTRABRIN RARE REBE
B HEROEREREAXGRIEHRAR
B%?m%&HﬂfMW%XV*B%Z&?‘* XX AR A
RABEBEZRANKRE  RIREREZ LY E G
E3BFATHNARAFEZE LM Z R IR
7-2 TR ERAEEEEN AN ERBBR

RARBRALBEMEMKE QA HBRERK
/‘LT SHEA BRI A EE10%3IA i e
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company) had, or were deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

4

H A A LT RAR BN R B RE D < # s
KRB

2024128310 SREEMM  ATALEE
(ARFAEEXHZRRTHRABREEZRRRIN R
BB TR RERIEREEBREES
K BB 6 B S XV ER 552 30 BB B9 6 SR AN & B 3
BB gOAR - HREBE F RHIR KD E3361F
ALBERARFRFEZBLMZEEHAR

Number of Percentage of

Shares held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interests (Note 1) (Note 3)

FERGHAE BREBDL

BREREE BB BB ERtE (BfF=E1) (P 7E3)

Fairich Trading Limited Beneficial owner 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

REBZHAERAA ERBERA 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Ms. Xing Junying Interest in a controlled corporation 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

(Note 2)

MEHR L L REEE R (RE2) 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Notes: B 5

(1) The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Fairich Trading Limited is directly wholly owned by Ms. Xing Junying and
hence Ms. Xing Junyin is deemed to be interested in 87,650,000
Shares.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation other than the
Directors, the chief executive and substantial shareholders of the
Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company and its associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the Controlling Shareholder nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group (either directly or indirectly)
and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may
have with the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Deed of Non-Competition

The INEDs and the rest of the Board reviewed the confirmation
provided by each of the Controlling Shareholders and confirmed that
they have reviewed the compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition dated 7 September 2017 and 5 December 2019 by
the Controlling Shareholders and the enforcement of the
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) given by the Controlling
Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition and are satisfied
that all of the Undertakings were complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions

There were no non-exempt connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2024.

No related party transactions were subject to the disclosure
requirements of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Period.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, and there is no
restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

““’WW\

R A =

BEEHTME BHE2024F12831BILFEE - AR
REERERBREURFEESANERTHEA(CE
EZER TR EEEAEBERFEFHAERF
(BREEIMEBE)NANEBSIRZSERTH
Bim TEBEAEESKTEEENMNaEE-

FHREBLE

BT ESRERESENECEHNSTER
BRRAEETSRENER TERESZCDEHRE
% A% 58 <F H Hi 2201799 A7H &2019F 12 A5H
B F B BRRAIBER - LRI REZ R
BTEE&AE(EBDHETER LERER
XA E Z2024F 128318 IEFE - —HESTFT
A

REXZRBEBRIXS

B E2024F12A3MBIEFE - WEMERIER RS
BERXGHFEBERS -

MERBIXSRE ETMRAUFI4AZEETHE
REGEAFERERZNRERTE °

BEEEXN

RAHRE  MEFTLNFEEMERR 2K
EMEAEXBLED ZERRITRAL -

BEBERE
ARAREBERARNKFESHE (KRR MK
ZEDEREB)EDIBEEHEELBER ZIE3 T
MEAEZEEN AT - B AR AR B
MERARREZHESHBMD -

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF 53



)Y 54

Directors’ Report

E=EHmE

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director. The
Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review, which provides appropriate coverage
for the Directors.

Share Scheme

As at the date of this report, the Company has not adopted any
share scheme (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules).

Equity-Linked Agreement

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Environment Policy

The Company is committed to support environmental sustainability.
The Company encourages environmental protection and adheres to
the principle of recycling and reducing, including encouraging
double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling bins,
promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance and cemetery
areas, through the natural water reservoir and spray irrigation
system. In the meantime, we strengthen the recycling of wastewater
to improve resources efficiency. The Company will review its
environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures in the operation of the
Group's businesses. The Company will publish its environmental,
social and governance report on an annual basis in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Changes in Information of Directors

During the year and up to the date of this report, there was no
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Sufficient Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

Events after the Reporting Period

There was no material events after 31 December 2024 up to the
date of this report.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment, at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

Wang Wei
Executive Director

31 March 2025, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B &% B A RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Wan
Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 136,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the I[ESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN ZFHEEWRNEGEERERATDRE(E)
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (Continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RRERHETMRIZERAGF)
Key Audit Matters (Continued) BAREITEE®

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HEEtEE EENENNNEERREENSE

Revenue recognition for sales of burial

plots

HEEWH W ARER

We identified the occurrence of revenue Our procedures in relation to the occurrence of revenue from sales of burial
from sales of burial plots as a key audit plots included:

matter due to the significance of the EERHERMPAN B EMETHRTFEIE

amount and volume of sales transactions

recognised during the year. o Testing key internal controls relevant to the sales of burial plots.

ETEBHEENBRANBLERT A —HRR

B FEE ITERFRABERNEER S ®

LB REX - . Selected burial plots sales transactions on a sample basis and:
. MBEENEMEERS K

AHBEHEE RN -

Details of revenue from sales of burial plots

are set out in note 5 to the consolidated — examined the signed sales and purchase agreements to
financial statements. understand the relevant terms in determining when customers
HEEM N AFFEHNE O I 18R M FES - obtain control of burial plots.

— RECRINESEHHE UTHREHEEERAMUREEPERSE
15 I B0 A5 K

—  obtained evidence regarding customers obtaining control of burial
plots.
— DSFHMEPESEMENENZIE-

—  reconciled the amounts of recorded transactions and related
receipts to the signed sales and purchase agreements of burial

plots.
— BEARRINSHRECDEIEMWERH RN AANEETH
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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B A BN S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Ja Az BEn S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A BN S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EfEERHEMEZEHKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR TR ARBFT
Revenue Y %5 5 44,013 56,931
Cost of sales and services 8 & I AR 7% B AR (7,414) (9,179)
Gross profit £ H 36,599 47,752
Other income HAb g A 6 4,138 3,524
Other gains and losses, net HAb Yz K B 1B F & 7 634 579
Loss on fair value change of investment X&YW E QA FEE
property & 18 — (20)
Loss on fair value changes of financial BATFEGABERD
assets at fair value through profit or loss & E & & A F(EE &)
A 16 (1,066) (1,587)
Distribution and selling expenses 8 M R X2 (10,530) (10,865)
Administrative expenses TE X (12,330) (12,276)
Other expenses Hib X (916) (877)
Finance costs B 75 PR AR (19) (45)
Profit before tax B B¢ A1 7 8 16,510 26,185
Income tax expense FT 15 %1 2 10 (6,662) (8,583)
Profit and total comprehensive income for 72 7] % A A JE{5 F A
the year attributable to owners of the i A 2 2 T U w48 FE
Company 9,848 17,602
Earnings per share GR&E R
Basic (RMB cents) ER(ARED) 11 1.0 1.8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{;:F /\ZI- ﬂ Hj( /R' ’13’% 3 D)) Y.
[ ]
At 31 December 2024 74202412 A31H T i&?,
At 31 December V
®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Mo 5E AR® T AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEIKFZE 13 4,388 5,925
Intangible assets mEEE 142 486
Right-of-use assets CRERE 14 6,432 6,669
Cemetery assets BEREE 15 12,125 12,177
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEFAERY
profit or loss CREE 16 4,256 5,322
Prepayments and other receivables Tﬁﬁﬁ RIE I H A FE e
;8 18 83,968 12,270
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE B 22 — 244
111,311 43,093
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 17 23,458 21,231
Trade receivables H 5 EWFE 812 548
Prepayments and other receivables TE A FRIE K A b FE Uy
E 18 27,722 29,749
Bank balances and cash HITHER LR 19 171,318 234,986
223,310 286,514
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables H 5 & H i 5RIE 20 13,085 12,796
Lease liabilities HEARE 270 538
Contract liabilities AHaE 21 6,812 7,357
Income tax payable JE 1~ P45 350 648 543
20,815 21,234
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEREE 202,495 265,280
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERADER
LIABILITIES 313,806 308,373

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF 63



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
a P iR &

At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H

At 31 December

®W12A831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo 5E ARE T AR T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 230 —
Contract liabilities EHERE 21 80,330 77,164
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 22 4,727 3,415
85,287 80,579
NET ASSETS EEFEE 228,519 227,794
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERRGEE
Share capital A& A 23 66,192 66,192
Reserves "B 24 162,327 161,602
Equity attributable to owners of the RABHEE ANEEER
Company 228,519 227,794
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 228,519 227,794

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 136 were R FE62E £136H WA 4 | K C H20259F38
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 31EHKEESEH W IXERT TR TIHEER

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: ES
Li Xingying Wang Wei R X
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR EBF BF
m 64 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BEHERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # £2024F12A31H L F & \ T ) -
~/
Attributable to owners of the Company V
EAEEEAEMN

Statutory

Share surplus Other Retained
capital reserve reserves earnings Total
EE
(&N B E Hi e REEF B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR N N ARET R ARBT R
(note 24) (note 24)
(Bt &¥24) (Bt &¥24)
At 1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 66,192 16,428 1,309 126,263 210,192
Profit and total comprehensive FRaFREEKE
income for the year 45 — — — 17,602 17,602
At 31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H 66,192 16,428 1,309 143,865 227,794
Profit and total comprehensive FRafREERE
income for the year Fok] — — — 9,848 9,848
Dividends recognised as distribution BRED KRR E — — — (9,123) (9,123)
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 66,192 16,428 1,309 144,590 228,519
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EFRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZE1R2AMBLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT T ARBFIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEFH
Profit before tax B 7% B & A 16,510 26,185
Adjustments for: BUTSEEL AR
Interest income A B WA (4,111) (3,501)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERETE
equipment 1,587 1,379
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 774 613
Amortisation of cemetery assets EREE#E 664 647
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 344 336
Loss on fair value change of investment BEMERNTEED
property &8 — 20
Loss on fair value changes of financial ?EQ¥15*+7\T§¥E’]$%E§E
assets at fair value through profit or loss ANFEEZFHEE 1,066 1,587
Finance costs 81 7 P AN 19 45
Other expenses Hinf 2 819 847
Foreign exchange gains, net QI\ELBZ 55 28 (634) (579)
Operating cash flows before movements in  &ZiEE L HFHA WK LIRS
working capital meE 17,038 27,579
Increase in inventories FE 18 (2,227) (1,226)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables Z 5 WA G M), (264) 110
(Increase)/decrease/in prepayments and T8 A SR8 R E A FE M ke (€ n)
other receivables e ¥ (339) 850
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H M FE5RIE
#n 289 2,696
Increase in contract liabilities & # B EIE N 2,621 7,879
Cash generated from operations KESE 17,118 37,888
Income tax paid =ENIZIES T (5,001) (9,156)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating #& & E8) (FTA) FTEIR& F58
activities 12,117 28,732
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEBEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

/‘!t- ]) =
Year ended 31 December V
HZ12A31HLLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBFIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZD
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB  HE KR E (111) (3,582)
Purchase of landscape facilities included in  BEFAEREEMN =B RHE
cemetery assets (612) (2,402)
Payments related to cemetery assets EEREEMBNR (67,872) —
Purchase of intangible assets BERVEE — (367)
Interest received B F B 1,832 1,281
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and  HEME - BE L& EHTE KA
equipment 61 —
Placement of term deposits FEATHER (30,000) —
Withdrawal of term deposits REEHEFR = 30,000
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing & & EE (FTA) FIER& F5E
activities (96,702) 24,930
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Dividends paid BEATIRE (9,123) —
Interest paid B A F B (19) (45)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHESE (575) (494)
Net cash used in financing activities METHMARSFE (9.717) (539)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash R kReEEWORD) EN
equivalents HRE (94,302) 53,123
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHREEREEEY
the year 234,986 181,284
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EERGEmTE 634 579
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FRANTIEEIENER & &
year, represented by: ReEEEY:
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRS 171,318 234,986
Less: bank deposits with original maturity B REEHABR=EA K LW
over three months RITHE R (30,000) —
141,318 234,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Of B % W & M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

D)) 68

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is 2nd Floor, the Grand
Pavilion Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box
10338, Grand Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands. The address
of its principal place of business is No.48, Louzhuang Road,
Langfang Development Area, Langfang, Hebei Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services,
cemetery maintenance services and funeral services in the PRC.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “Group”.

The Company’s parent company is Tai Shing International
Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British  Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and its ultimate holding
company is Lily Charm Holding Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI. Both companies are controlled by Ms.
Zhao Ying (“Ms. Zhao").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (‘000) unless otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
Committee, including Climate-related Commitments (IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets), which
is relevant to the Group.

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards and the Committee’s agenda decision in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. HABEMMBEHREEANGTE
AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING BIREBIT ARG ER 2
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards B8 45 18 8 R A 2 A $7 5T B R B 7% R
in issue but not yet effective HFAEA @ ER REBEFT AR
The Group has not early applied the following new and REERBRAERMAT BB A R E K
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been BT ET B BR B 7 s E R AT 22 A R BB ET
issued but are not yet effective: PNE
Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Amendments to the BB mEER SMIANHE )SZ
IFRS 7 Classification and 5% N BB B 7% R CEE
Measurement of Financial s AR E TR
Instruments? ({&ET )
Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Contracts Referencing Nature BRI M AR EBEAKEN
IFRS 7 dependent Electricity? 5% N BB B 7% BHEH?
s AR E TR
({&ET )
Amendments to IFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets B0 [ B 755 i 5 2E A &%{%Eﬁiﬁi\ﬂé‘?%’&
IAS 28 between an Investor and its F109% R EBE g5 REEEHEZ
Associate or Joint Venture' A Al 852855 F? Eﬁéﬁ@ﬂj%i
({&ET7) SN
Amendments to IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS BRI ISR BRI BHREER
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards SEEA(BEIA)  EFERZFE
— Volume 113 W — 1113
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BIFR & et 2RI ZE219% BRZ 7] H 32
({&ET7)
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BRI M EER HMBEHRER 2R
Financial Statements? F185% #: Fae
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 1 RAETHHSKZEFANFERMEER
determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 2 R2025F1A1E S 2 B F IR K FE B AR
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 3 FR2026F 1 AVHSIZ ERBRFEBREER
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 4 FR2027F1A1B 2 B FE ) FE B R A AR
Except for the new IFRS Accounting Standards mentioned fe R SCPT i BT ET B R B TR SR E B = 5
below, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) A4h - AAREE(ESE))EHERMER
anticipate that the application of all amendments to IFRS O% B RS R A Bl @ s E BB ST AR A AT B Sk 3
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the HAHBRBETeEEAZLE

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B Ot B R .
For the year ended 31 December 2024  #{ £2024F 12 4318 IEFE (@« D) . b
P
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are
also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new
standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS issued by the IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the vyear are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& GF B 7 7R R MY 5 E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

DI 74
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (sales of burial plots and provision of
cemetery maintenance services), the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 Leases at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to a lease of an office premises that has a
lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that directly
related to cemetery in cemetery assets and transfer to
inventories upon commencement of development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of cemetery asset or inventory as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EUfMBBRNGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS KT BEER 1)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IOD 78

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 ERGEHBEER @)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEFEZEANA (&)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEAEE)

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax (as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income) because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related
assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cemetery assets

Cemetery assets consist of leasehold land, cost of initial
land development, and cost of landscaping facilities for
the general public areas of the cemetery. Except for the
leasehold land and cost of initial land development with
no intention to develop up to the end of the reporting
period measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, cost of
landscaping facilities for the general public areas is
measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of property, plant and equipment.

Upon commencement of development of the cemetery
with the intention of sale in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, the related carrying amounts of
cemetery assets are transferred to inventories.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

D)) 84
MMM

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories include cemetery assets for sale, cemetery
assets under development for sale, and tombstones and
columbarium units. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at the lower of cost
determined at the cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets and net
realisable value, cemetery assets for sale, cemetery assets
under development for sale, and tombstones and
columbarium units are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

0] Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

)))))) 88
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “gain
(loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL" line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

0] Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effect.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

D) 90
MMM

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OFBF 1% 3R R MY 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’'s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of other receivables and amounts due
from related parties where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

D)D) 94
MMM

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

>+

i

MERENEREERE
ATBRE R )

BEREGFBEER (E)
SRIEA(E)

Z A E ()

%\giﬁgwu@!"ﬁég
REBEEREERDBEESRENEGLN
BEMERE  KMS —HEEBEZSH
BEREEMABEBRIL YRR &E
MR REMEE -

RITERRBHEKATENEREE
K- EEREEECURERKEDN

EHENBEEER -

EHEERER
DEREB IR
EELEaTARBAEORHNE

RARKEHABEEERSTANES
“ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiEA°

=T A

X T A AES aﬁé?%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
E%&ﬂ%%‘mEﬂAm KA

BITHE S Iﬁ&EWHW%%W
TD E%{%ﬁé EXZ’KE w

BREHKATIENERERE

TRAFRERESREMENRER
BABRMERIRBIHKAGE -

RIEEREHMAR
AEBEgTiEeRNaE T2k HIHxK
fEimby RIEER TR EE - R ILHE
RBHETRABENEEAERCD N LEN
REZHNEZHESRNIERER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s investments in unquoted equity instruments
amounting to RMB4,256,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB5,322,000) were measured at fair values determined based
on unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the
reported fair values of these financial instruments. Further
details are set out in note 27c.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WaEk&ED
3 ot

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i)
customers

Year ended 31 December 2024
BZE204F12RA31B LEE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium

units, and Provision of
provision of cemetery Provision of

other burial- maintenance funeral
related services services services
HEEM
BB
REHME S RUHEE R
HE R HERY & R 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR AR® TR AR TR

Types of goods and service @ EmRREEE

Sales of burial plots HEEH 25,002 = = 25,002
Provision of other burial-related 12 £ fb 2 3t 47 4 R 7%

services 6,729 = — 6,729
Provision of funeral services RERERE = = 6,384 6,384
Provision of cemetery RUEZERERS

maintenance services = 5,898 — 5,898
Total FH 31,731 5,898 6,384 44,013

Timing of revenue recognition 32 1§ & # B fS

A point in time EXE-RHH 25,002 — 6,384 31,386

Over time W B il 7% i 6,729 5,898 — 12,627

Total ‘gt 31,731 5,898 6,384 44,013
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IE F[E

5.

((

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WER&Eo Mo
(Continued)
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () BEA#HWZSEE

customers (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A318 L F &

Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units, and Provision of
provision of cemetery Provision of
other burial-  maintenance funeral
related services services services Total
HE 2
B IR BB AN
PR A E i EHEE REEE
HERS HER AR 75 Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®FTI AR®FTT AR®Trx
Types of goods and EmRREE
service
Sales of burial plots HE 2 37,566 — — 37,566
Provision of other burial- 124t E tb = i 45 3
related services R %5 7,611 — — 7,611
Provision of funeral services 272 & R 7% — — 6,259 6,259
Provision of cemetery RHEREERS
maintenance services — 5,495 — 5,495
Total st 45,177 5,495 6,259 56,931
Timing of revenue R R RE
recognition
A point in time EE—KHEE 37,566 — 6,259 43,825
Over time A ki 7,611 5,495 — 13,106
Total @5t 45,177 5,495 6,259 56,931
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(Continued)

(ii)

D)) 98
DO

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of burial plots with maintenance services (multiple
performance obligations)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
burial plots, the relevant burial plots specified in the
contracts have no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Directors concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the
burial plots to customers. Revenue from sales of burial
plots is therefore recognised at a point in time when
customer obtains control of the burial plot, being at the
point that the burial plot is transferred to customer and
the payment of the transaction price is due immediately
at the point the customer purchases the burial plot.

The cemetery maintenance service is considered to be a
distinct service. Transaction price is allocated between
sales of burial plots and the maintenance services on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue relating
to the maintenance services is recognised over time. The
transaction price allocated to maintenance services is
recognised as a contract liability at the time of the initial
sales transaction and is released on a straight-line basis
over the period of service.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  #{ £2024F 12 4318 IEFE (@« D)) . b
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5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of columbarium units

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
columbarium units, the relevant columbarium units
specified in the contracts have no alternative use to the
Group. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Directors concluded that the Group does
not have an enforceable right to payment prior to
transfer of the columbarium units to customers. Revenue
from sales of columbarium units is therefore recognised
at a point in time when customer obtains control of the
columbarium wunit, being at the point that the
columbarium units is transferred to customers and the
payment of the transaction price is due immediately at
the point the customer purchases the columbarium units.
The Group did not have any sale of columbarium units
during the years presented.

Provision of other burial-related services

Other burial-related services represented revenues from
miscellaneous services such as the organisation and
conducting of burial rituals, the design and landscaping
of the burial sites, additional engraving fees and
provision of temporary storage service for cremated
remains. Revenue relating to these burial-related services
is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs.

Provision of funeral services

Funeral services represented revenues from one-stop-
shop services such as the organisation and conducting of
funeral services. Revenue relating to these funeral
services is recognised at a point in time when the
services have been provided and accepted by the
customer, and the payment of the transaction price is
due immediately at the point the customer purchase the
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(Continued)

(iii)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

(i) PHEEFANNBELDEEN
1%

R2024F128318 » &
BERE(CREITH B

Fic 2= ) 87 /8 4
RAEITINXSE

RRER RGN FERREAT

Provision of Provision of

cemetery other

maintenance  burial-related
services services Total

REEER RAeEH M
HERE EMMEBERE gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR®ET R AR®ET T
Within one year/on demand —FRNIREK 6,229 583 6,812

More than one year but not more than BB —FETBEMF

two years 6,443 83 6,526
More than two years 8 18 M 73,804 = 73,804
86,476 666 87,142

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

R2023512A31H - 5
BAT (RE 7T 3k &6

fic 2= ) 88 /8 4
DARBITINXSE

RRER RGN FERREAT

Provision of Provision of

cemetery other

maintenance burial-related
services services Total

TE/\iﬂ R EAM
wERE  EHIEBERS Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFTT AREFT AREFT
Within one year/on demand —FRNIREK 5,840 1,517 7,357

More than one year but not more than Bi#E—F{ETBBMF

two years 6,036 328 6,364
More than two years 8 18 M 70,800 — 70,800
82,676 1,845 84,521
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # £2024F12A318 L FE

/‘ﬂ- l) =
~/
5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WEREE DI V
(Continued)
(iv) Operating segments (iv) &0 H
Information reported to executive directors of the EBRTARAMITEST (X ELER
Company, being the chief operating decision makers (the RE(ETELERKE]))WERER
“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and HEMXNIBEHOERIRE H A
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of BRI D B ERIE -
goods or services delivered or provided.
The Group’s operating and reportable segments are (i) REENLERZWMH =2 EFR B
sales of burial plots, columbarium units and provision of HEE BRBRREHBEERER
other burial-related services; (ii) provision of cemetery Hia EABERE  (NVREFEER 4 E

maintenance services; and (i) provision of funeral AR5 R(iiR A E RS
services in the PRC.

Segment revenue and results D Eb M R A
Year ended 31 December 2024 B 22024F12H31H 1F F/&

Sales of burial
plots,
columbarium
units, and  Provision of
provision of cemetery  Provision of
other burial- maintenance funeral
related services services services

HEEM
&R
REHBER RU{EE RERE
HER% HERY % At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR®Tz ARETx

Segment revenue o EiE 31,731 5,898 6,384 44,013
Segment results NEEE 27,142 4,905 4,552 36,599
Other income Hin e A 4,138
Other gains and losses, net HtamRERFE 634
Loss on fair value change of BRENMEATEEZDER

investment property -
Loss on fair value changes of financial K AFEFABZHNEBEE

assets at FVTPL ATEEEEE (1,066)
Distribution and selling expenses AHERBEERX (10,530)
Administrative expenses TR X (12,330)
Other expenses HiB% (916)
Finance costs B B B AR (19)
Profit before tax B B A1 A 16,510

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF 101



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WBEBRELE DI
(Continued)

(iv) Operating segments (iv) #&&nH0(E)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) 7 EB U R R FE A ()
Year ended 31 December 2023 B F20234F 12 31 H 1F F Z
Sales of burial
plots,
columbarium
units, and Provision of
provision of cemetery Provision of
other burial-  maintenance funeral
related services services services Total
HEEM -
B IR B A
ﬁt\,\fﬁz%iﬁz REEE REERE
HERS HERS R % M@
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETE ARETE ARETE

Segment revenue 5 # i zm 45177 5,495 6,259 56,931
Segment results AEEE 38,691 4,764 4,297 47,752
Other income ﬁﬁﬁ”ﬁl?\ 3,524
Other gains and losses, net H Uz B 1805 58 579
Loss on fair value change of BREMEATEEYEE

investment property (20)
Loss on fair value changes of financial &2 FEFFABZHNSHE

assets at FVTPL ERNTHEEHER (1,587)
Distribution and selling expenses DEREERS (10,865)
Administrative expenses THRZ (12,276)
Other expenses HibH X (877)
Finance costs B 7 B R (45)
Profit before tax B 85 31 0 A 26,185
The accounting policies of the operating segments are gy B e R BRI RSP A AR &
the same as the Group's accounting policies described in ErestEER - D BERESD
note 3. Segment results represent the gross profit HEANEN AESEEMIKA -
attributable to each segment without allocation of other H b Y & &Eﬂ@ &éﬁ%% F1E &
income, other gains and losses, loss on fair value change BEE - ?ﬁ@?fﬁﬂr)@@ e RE
of investment property, loss on fair value changes of EATEEZHER HHERHEER
financial assets at FVTPL, distribution and selling XfTHREX - Ef F'HEJ X I B B
expenses, administrative expenses, other expenses and Kot BRAEELREARAKEZMUUE
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM BARAPEEFETHHNAEEE - K
for the purposes of resources allocation and FEMBTFELES HHEKE - B
performance assessment. There was no inter-segment REELEARENETHEN K
revenue during the current and prior years. No analysis WERZNBEED A EERBENDN -

of segment assets and liabilities is presented as it is not
regularly reviewed by the CODM.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

___,—_"_.'-ﬁ-

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. Wmk&E DR
(Continued)
(iv) Operating segments (Continued) (iv) #&& 5 EE)
Geographical information 12 & R
All of the Group's revenue is generated from sale of ERHER Ml iR R MmE - K
burial plots, columbarium units and provision of other SENMBEURREREEFRHEER
burial-related services, provision of cemetery - B RORR K B2 R fth 23t 4R B AR
maintenance services and provision of funeral services in %oRHERAERY IREEER
the PRC based on where goods are sold or services are %omMARBEBRBLYAIBANNEE
rendered, and substantially all of the Group's identifiable REBEHURFE - FA - I &EZ275]
assets and liabilities are located in the PRC. Therefore, IR AR o
no geographical information is presented.
Information about major customers FEERPEHR
No single customer accounted for 10% or more of the RAFE HMEE-—FPHAEERK
Group’s revenue for the current year (2023: nil). = I10% 3k A £ (20234 - #&) -
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMWA
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBE T
Interest income on bank deposits AT BN B WA 1,832 1,281
Imputed interest income on interest-free REENRERENEZS
advance payment and deposit paid ki 3= NN PN 2,279 2,220
Others HAh 27 23
4,138 3,524
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HitlsmREEFHE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR®T T AR T T
Foreign exchange gains, net HNIE IR 25 0 B 634 579
634 579
8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BRBiAIER
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: B A58 Al g K 48 0 BR LA TS &8

Year ended 31 December

BZNR2ANBLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBFIT
Auditors’ remuneration % R B & 1,050 1,050
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - B E L& EITE 1,587 1,379
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEENE 774 613
Amortisation of intangible assets M EESH 344 336

Amortisation of cemetery assets (included in  EEBEEE®HH GTAHEE &

cost of sales and services) Pk 7 pX A) 664 647
Total depreciation and amortisation mERESFEAE 3,369 2,975
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense HER & B X M 77 & Ak &K 2,812 4,347

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration B TR B & EH &

(note 9): (Kt 7¥9) -
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMEF 10,101 10,303
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RARAE A FH &I R 922 726
Total staff costs @8 TR A 11,023 11,029
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # £2024F12A318 L FE

/‘ﬂ- l) =
~/
9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE'S 9. EERESFMH 74
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E EH B
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors by the RAFEE AEEENHENESH
Group during the current year are as follows: T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MBLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T AR BT T
Directors’ emoluments EE=ZH
— Fees — e 274 270
— Salaries and other benefits — He hHAMEF 330 329
— Discretionary performance-related — WERBBB@EL
bonus* 127 129
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIKEFFH &I R
contributions a4 38
Total emoluments e POk 775 766
* Bonus is determined based on the duties and * PITEZAEEEA 2EREHR
responsibilities of the executive directors as well as the TEFRERAEEREXEEET -

operating results of the Group.

Year ended 31 December 2024 B F2024F12H31H 1 F &

Discretionary Retirement
Salaries and  performance- benefit scheme
Fees other benefits related bonus  contributions Total

HER BERE BIKER

[k Al BT A HIE 53 At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  AR¥TR ARBTRE ARETR

Executive directors: UITES:
Ms. Li Xingying FRBRL — 226 127 38 391
Mr. Huang Peikun BIEMEE = 104 = 6 110
Ms. Wang Wei IRt — — — — —
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Zhao [k = = = = =
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:

directors:
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon - R 91 — — — 91
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FxERT 91 = = — 91
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan RIEH LA 91 = = = 91
Total @&t 273 330 127 44 774
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

) 106
DO

9. EEREEHFM =

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EESFHM )
Year ended 31 December 2023 Bt 20234125318 1F F/&
Discretionary Retirement
Salaries and  performance-  benefit scheme
Fees  other benefits  related bonus contributions Total
ek REXRR R
e H 18 7 =L p N STEIER wat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARBTT ARBETT ARETR
Executive directors: HITES:
Ms. Li Xingying FRBRT — 225 129 34 388
Mr. Huang Peikun EEMEE — 104 — 4 108
Ms. Wang Wei IHrt — — — — —
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Zhao fikedun — — — — —
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BERLL 90 — — — 90
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEET 90 — — — 90
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan RAEM LA 90 — — — 90
Total &t 270 329 129 38 766
Note: M aE -

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Group. The

independent non-executive directors’

emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of

the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Employee’s emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024 included one (2023: one)
director, details of whose emoluments are set out above.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four)
highest paid employees who are not directors are as
follows:

e
(CECCECLE /“h J’ Pl
7 4
EEREEHMH @ v

(b)

& 8 %7
HE2024512831B I FEAER R
EEESFMALTERIE—REE(2023
Fo—R) EFMFBZHAR X%
THEFEEHES FHIEES (20234F :
M) B EE S T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARET T
Salaries and other allowances Fre L EMER, 2,618 2,241
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & k& F 5t 2 4 & 108 58
2,726 2,299

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within
the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T &

1,500,000/% 7T

£ %1,000,0007% 7T

HEFESHFHEENFHIFAT
#E -

Number of employees

EE2E

2024 2023
20244 20234

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors or the non-director highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil).
In addition, none of the directors, the non-director
highest paid employees waived any emoluments during
the year (2023: nil).

RAFE AEETERNEENIEE
EnmHMES I HM AR E M
AREBSKAIEA A ES kBT & E
(2023F - ) - N EFRIIFES
BT MEERAFERENETM
Bl & (20234 : £E) »
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

10.

)))))) 108

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.

FrEHAEx<

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBEF T
Current enterprise income tax BVER > PRI T 5,106 7,529
Deferred tax (note 22) i AE R 18 (Y 5E22) 1,556 1,054
6,662 8,583

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to profit
before tax as follows:

FE AT BRI BB AT M B RN T

Year ended 31 December

BZENA3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ARETF T
Profit before tax B B¢ A A 16,510 26,185
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% HEAMR25% - EN TR 4,128 6,546
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A 1% 7 X2 M T 75 52 &
purpose 1,276 956
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBTBANRB T E
purpose (477) (237)
Withholding tax on retained profits to be  # F % Ik AR 88 & | B0 7
distributed 950 600
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERVBEEONB R 785 719
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BAEAIARERONBEE
recognised — (1
Income tax expense FT 15 %1 X2 6,662 8,583
Note: M aE -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") BEPRRCEMSFRE(OEMSHE) RO E

and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate applicable
to the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group’s
income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar Two
Rules are effective. However, as the Group’s consolidated annual
revenue is expected to be less than EUR750 million, the management
of the Group considered the Group is not liable to top-up tax under
the Pillar Two Rules.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MMM

FEBUERRGN - PEMER =038 A 0B A

25% -

MRASEW RN BBEERESEA - &I E
HEBRBIELEE -

REENIAE _RBERNE TADERRZEE -
A ARAEENGRAFERABRBRIDRIS0H
ST AREEEERR/ANEERGARBEIE
—HERABRERER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Q@@
M)

(i
[

1. SREF 74
KNG B ANEEERERREERT TR
BATHIETE -

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%®T T ARBFIT
Earnings: Br:
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic B FF E &R EKREF|
earnings per share (profit for the year AR (KRRHE A
attributable to owners of the Company) FE MR F A m F) 9,848 17,602
Numbers of shares: BRin&EH :
Numbers of ordinary shares for the purpose B LAGT E &K E K& A
of calculating basic earnings per share K E Bk 2 B 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

12. DIVIDEND

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company
recognised as distribution during the year:

B E2024%F K2023F12A31H IEFE - &
BEDBTEBR BMREMEELRZT
ERBEERF -

12. RE

FAR BRRDKOARBTEBBRIRBE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR T

Final dividend of HK$0.01 (equivalent to
approximately RMB0.009) per share
(2023: nil)

FRAH0.0178 T (BER
4 AR #0.0097T) Y
REARE 2 (20234 - &)

9,123 —

The final dividend for 2023 of the Company was declared on
27 March 2024 and paid on 21 July 2024.

After the end of the reporting period, the Board has
recommended a final dividend of HK0.55 cents per share for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and is subject to approval
by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability in the
consolidated financial statements (2023: HK$0.01 per share).

RN FI2023F REIAR B A2024F3 27 E
R 2 2024F7 A21 B IR o

MNEIERRE  ES R HREHE20245F
12A31H IEFERBRKRE G558 - A
FRREAEERRAEF RS EA &S A E
B -REHREEZRERPRBETARAE
HEBERETEREEE(2023F : BRE
50.01587T) °

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& a5 R R b 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. X -BERRE

DI 110

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixtures and
Buildings improvements vehicles equipment Total
HE &AM
BF MELE AE RERRHE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®B TR ARBTRT AR¥TR AR%¥TR AR%Txn
Cost DN
At 1 January 2023 202351818 7,501 390 1,247 4,637 13,775
Additions wE 50 — 161 3,421 3,632
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 7,551 390 1,408 8,058 17,407
Additions NE 25 14 — 72 1M
Disposals & — (72) (84) — (156)
At 31 December 2024 A2024F12 4318 7,576 332 1,324 8,130 17,362
Depreciation neE
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1 818 (6,256) (114) (1,102) (2,631) (10,103)
Provided for the year FRNEE (124) (22) (100) (1,133) (1,379)
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31H (6,380) (136) (1,202) (3,764) (11,482)
Provided for the year FENEE (90) (18) (77) (1,402) (1,587)
Eliminated on disposals i B 4 88 — 14 81 — 95
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31H (6,470) (140) (1,198) (5,166) (12,974)
Carrying amount FEE
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31H 1,106 192 126 2,964 4,388
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12H31H 1,171 254 206 4,294 5,925

The above items of property,
depreciated on a straight-line basis, taking into account their
residual values, at the following rates per annum:

plant and equipment are

LliE - BB KR EE B RFIRREE N
BRERATFRIFE

Buildings 4.85%
B'F

Leasehold improvements 10.00%
HEMERE

Motor vehicles 24.25%
AE

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

B KERRE

19.40%-32.33%
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& Ot IS AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024 12 A31H ILFE @ N—))
/“'r- l) =
a4
14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. FHEEE V

Leasehold Leased

land property Total
HE L HEY* #mat

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TR

At 1 January 2023 7A2023F1A1H — 1,032 1,032
Transfer from investment property @2 # 5 3% & ) % 6,250 — 6,250
Depreciation provided for the year F A EHIRITE (97) (516) (613)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 6,153 516 6,669
Additions NE = 537 537
Depreciation provided for the year F N&HiE2ITE (194) (580) (774)
At 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 5,959 473 6,432
The Group leased an office in Hong Kong and the lease term REERBAEHE—FHANRIAE BB
will expire in October 2026. 2026108 @i o

The leasehold land held by the Group is depreciated on a REBRBEHELHNEGERBEHRTE
straight-line basis over the lease term expiring in December FHHEIE2055F 12 7 & ©

2055.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

15. CEMETERY ASSETS 15. EEEE
Leasehold Landscape Development
land facilities costs Total
AE LT SBREE R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T Rt AR®Tx AR Tt AR¥Tx
Cost (BN
At 1 January 2023 7R2023F1H1H 7,204 7,341 699 15,244
Additions NE — 2,573 — 2,573
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 7,204 9,914 699 17,817
Additions NE — 612 — 612
At 31 December 2024 MK2024F12A831H 7,204 10,526 699 18,429
Amortisation 54
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H (3,330) (1,332) (331) (4,993)
Provided for the year FRNEE (147) (489) (17) (647)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H (3,471) (1,821) (348) (5,640)
Provided for the year FRNEE (141) (506) (17) (664)
At 31 December 2024 72024F12831H (3,612) (2,327) (365) (6,304)
Carrying amount BRE A
At 31 December 2024 72024F12831H 3,592 8,199 334 12,125
At 31 December 2023 72023512 A318 3,733 8,093 351 12,177

DD 112
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

15.

16.

CEMETERY ASSETS (Continued)

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured under IFRS
16 at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses. The leasehold land is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term of 50 years.

Landscape facilities represent the construction cost of arbors
and bridges in the mausoleum. Amortisation for landscape
facilities is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of 20 years.

Development costs represent the costs paid for the foundation
work and putting the land into the condition ready for
development of cemetery business. Amortisation for
development costs is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life (same as leasehold land over the lease
term).

Upon commencement of development of an area within the
cemetery, the related carrying amounts of leasehold land and
development costs are transferred to inventories.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

15.

16.

p—

EEEE®

TS+ B BE B R B B A R A E
1655 JA B A5 8, B 5+ 8 85 T2 4 7 R (8 B 1B 5t
8 o T + A B R M S0E TR B B o

SERBERETRERBROERKAN
SERIEA B SER G A6 AF 2055
TREEY

BRANERBETERAFELMTAER
B EEBE R T HIRA o 8RB LA
BAOER BRI A EAFH (REHANEE
T HAR) REHHE#E S o

EEARMEMARERREZ BELTHRER
RANHBEEEERERE -

BAVEFABENEMEE

At 31 December

Unlisted investment: FELETIHE -
— equity securities — BRARFES

MW12H31R
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARET T
4,256 5,322

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had 10% equity
interests in Huimin Town Bank Co., Ltd. of Anci District,
Langfang City (BT ZAEZRENERITRG BRAQA),
which was classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount of loss
on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL of
RMB1,066,000 (2023: RMB1,587,000) was charged to profit or
loss.

Details of the valuation of the financial assets at FVTPL are set
out in note 27c.

20244 220234128318 » AE B B
PR RERMNBERITROER Q0%
R PEAEAFEFABZNSHE
FEEO

HE2024F12A31MALFE - BAFEA
BENCHEEATEEGBIBARE
1,066,0007T (20234 : A F #1,587,0007T)
PRI -

BBEEAFEAANBAENEREENHER
BB 27 -

2024 FE®RE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

17. INVENTORIES

DI 114

17. 78

At 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR¥ Tt AR T T
Burial plots 2it 631 730
Tombstones =i 7,445 5,119
Columbarium units (Note) B IR JER (B 5E) 15,382 15,382
23,458 21,231
Note: Mt EE -

The Group provided temporary storage services for cremated remains
using the columbarium units, which amounted to approximately
RMB3,496,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 3,496,000). The
Directors considered the Group’s intention for holding the
columbarium units for sale in its ordinary course of business has not
changed.

The management of the Group is also conducting comprehensive
feasibility study and refining its marketing strategies in relation to its
inventories of columbarium units. Up to the date of this report, the
management has commenced certain new sales initiatives, including
decoration of the room for retail sales, the exploration of innovative
distribution channels and value-added service enhancements, to address
dynamic market demands and drive operational efficiency.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

p—

18. B REREMEWRRIE

At 31 December

®12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T
Current B
Prepayments SEANE /O 529 428
Advance payment for land demolition T HIFE BN K
(note (c)) (B FE(0) ) 27,193 29,321
27,722 29,749
Non-current kB
Prepaid land acquisition costs (Note (b)) TE A £ b Uk BB AR AN (B 7E(b) ) 54,714 —
Advance payment for land demolition T IFE IR R
(note (c)) (FF 5E(c)) 16,501 —
Guarantee deposit and payments for a RESREEBIEE XK
cemetery project (note (a)) (MFsx(@)) 9,753 9,270
Other receivables (note (d)) H fth i U 38 (B RE(d) ) 3,000 3,000
83,968 12,270

Notes:

The amount represents the interest-free guarantee deposit paid
to a minority shareholder, Langfang Xinhangcheng Real Estate
Development Co., Limited (B83h T ¥ A0 E L ERZE G R A 7,
“Xinhangcheng”) for development of a new cemetery project
located in Langfang relocation and settlement zone, Beijing, and
should there be no breach on the part of Langfang Wantong
Cemetery Co., Ltd. (“Langfang Wantong”, a subsidiary of the
Company) before the official commencement of operation of the
cemetery, Xinhangcheng shall within 90 days therefrom refund
the guarantee deposit to Langfang Wantong. The difference
between the nominal amount and the fair value of the
guarantee deposit at initial recognition was regarded as
payments for a cemetery project.

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(0)

(d)

DO 116
DO

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered
into a State-owned land use right transfer contract with the
Langfang Bureau of Natural Resources and Planning (BB 35 B
SRERMILEIR) in relation to the acquisition of land use right
for a land parcel at a cash consideration of RMB54,714,000.
The payment was fully settled by the Group in 2024, while the
land use right was transferred to the Group in February 2025.
The Group was in the process of obtaining the land use right
certificate and the directors are of the view that there would
not be any obstacles to obtain the certificate.

The balance mainly represents an interest-free advance payment
to Baijiawu Office (B R 7% # % B, a local government
department) for the land demolition relating to the
development of a new cemetery project located in Langfang
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing. As of December 31,
2024, the Group has made advance payments of
RMB43,079,000 in total, included RMB13,079,000 paid during
the year 2024. Out of the total advance payment,
approximately RMB16,501,000 is related to the direct cost
attributable to the land acquisition, which will be transferred to
cemetery assets upon completion of the acquisition. The
remaining balance will be returned by the local government
authority to the Group. According to the continuous
communication with the local government, the Directors
understand that the repayment is subject to the final approval
by the government of Langfang Guangyang District and, based
on their best knowledge after consulting with experts with
relevant experiences, estimated that the remaining advance
payment will be repaid to the Group within one year from the
end of the reporting period.

The amount represented an interest-bearing advance payment to
Langfang Funeral Parlour (B85 1 7& % €5, a business unit under
Langfang Civil Affairs Bureau). Pursuant to the agreement
entered into between Langfang Wantong and Langfang Funeral
Parlour in 2022, Langfang Wantong was entrusted to provide
certain extended funeral services in Langfang Funeral Parlour. In
accordance with the agreement, Langfang Wantong advanced
an amount of RMB3,000,000 to Langfang Funeral Parlour, which
bears interest based on prevailing bank loan interest rate for the
corresponding period. The agreement stipulates that if Langfang
Funeral Parlour fails to repay the principal and accrued interest
by the due date, Langfang Wantong is entitled to offset the
outstanding amount against the project proceeds attributable to
Langfang Funeral Parlour. Based on the profit forecast and
repayment schedule, the Directors estimated that the repayment
period of the principal and interest will exceed one year from
end of the reporting period.
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19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19. BRITERRBEE /
Bank balances carried interest at market interest rates ranging M2024F12A318 - RITEHETFEZN T
from 0.1% to 1.8% per annum as at 31 December 2024 0.1%E1.8% 85 FIEF B (2023F : BF
(2023: 0.20% to 0.35% per annum). N F0.20%£0.35% ) °
The Group's bank balances and cash are denominated in the REBRTEHKRBSUTINEEE -

following currencies:

At 31 December

128318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETF T
Denominated in RMB UARBSHE 144,352 196,126
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE 24,809 38,860
Denominated in US$ UZETTEHE 2,157 —
171,318 234,986

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 ES R EMENAKE

At 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEF T
Trade payables 2 5 ENRIE 8,762 7,312
Other payables and accrued expenses Hofth JE AT FRIE R EET X 4,323 5,484
13,085 12,796
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 20. EFREMENARE®

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented NTAREHREZEZAHEVINEFEN
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: RIERERER DT

At 31 December

M12831H

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T AR®ET T

Less than 1 year D 6,169 7,156

1 to 2 years 1224F 2,593 17

2 to 3 years 2E3F = 25

Over 3 years 3FEM E = 114

8,762 7,312

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. EHNERE
Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial EHEEERBREERBEREBHEEE
plots, cemetery maintenance services and other burial-related M B[R 4 RS N B A 2 AR B AR 5
services in accordance with the revenue recognition policy and B2 75 o

the nature of the business.

At 31 December
®12H31H

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®E T AR®ET T

Provision of cemetery maintenance services 12 it 2 & 4 # R % (Ff 5%)

(note) 86,476 82,676
Provision of other burial-related services AL E fb E b A0 B AR 7S 666 1,845
87,142 84,521
Current bin 6,812 7,357
Non-current JER B 80,330 77,164
87,142 84,521
OO 118 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

21.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Note:

The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due to
the long-term advances received from customers. Customers who
purchase burial services are required to make advance payments for
maintenance fees, relating to the on-going cemetery maintenance
services of their burial plots and memorials over 20 years, and such
amounts are generally paid together with the purchase of burial plots.

The following table presented the amounts of revenue
recognised in profit or loss which were included in contract

liabilities carried forward from prior periods.

Year ended 31 December 2024

21. EHNEBEwW V

B 2

AEEAMNABENITEARKET P KEREE
BHAH - BEEERENEFPARBERER
R EBRBIELE L N20FNEEE - ZEHA
—RNEE R — BT e

TEREINNBEEERNUEEE  ZF R
BERFARTBEENGNAE-

B 22024F 12315 1F F &

Provision of
cemetery Provision of
maintenance other burial-
services related services

REER RUEH M
HERB £ 3 18 B AR 3%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AR®BTR

contract liability balance at the beginning &) & # R 5
of the year

Revenue recognised that was included in the R EFH A A 4 B E 4 &

5,750 1,517
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

)IN)D) 120

1. EHNEBE®

Year ended 31 December 2023 Bl 22023F12H31H 1F F/&E
Provision of
cemetery Provision of
maintenance other burial-
services related services
RHEER A E A
# T R 15 2 48 B R 7%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFIT
Revenue recognised that was included in the REMFAA N ABLELHN
contract liability balance at the beginning 2 R =
of the year 5,233 560

The Group receives all the contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sales of burial plots and provision
of cemetery maintenance services. Transaction price is
allocated between sales of burial plots and the maintenance
services on a relative standalone selling price basis. The
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised as a
contract liability at the time of the initial sales transaction. The
Group considers the advance payment does not contain
significant financing component and accordingly the amount of
consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value
of money taking into consideration that the payment terms
were not structured primarily for the provision of finance to
the Group.
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22. DEFERRED TAX

The deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group and
movements thereof during the current and prior years are as
follows:

22. IEERBIE
75 4 R A T2 B 1 E FE R R M0 I T OE
HE/ (BB REESHNT :

Withholding
tax on
dividend
declared by a Fair value Fair value
PRC subsidiary change on change on
but not yet investment  Right-of-use financial assets Accrued
paid property assets at FVTPL interest Others
HERE A ZATE
EIR{E i & FABEN
XHHRE REME tHEE
MANS WAVESE KAREE ATESD EstH 8 Hity @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR AR®TR AR%T:R
At 1 January 2023 202361718 (2,200) (327) — 773 (633) 270 (2,17)
(Charge)/credit to profit ~ (RiEZNK) /5 ABE
or loss (note 10) (M3E10) (600) 5 5 397 (518) (343) (1,054)
Reclassification from HRENEEFTHEE
investment property to  FBEEE
right-of-use assets — 322 (322) — — — —
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A318 (2,800) — (317) 1,170 (1,151) (73) (3,171)
(Charge)/credit to profit (R EZINK) /3 A B
or loss (note 10) (BzE10) (650) — 10 267 (517) (366) (1,256)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12 4316 (3,450) — (307) 1,437 (1,668) (439) (4,427)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

AT RIEMBREBNNETREALH D
#r -

At 31 December

M®12831H

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETF T

Deferred tax assets FIERIEE BE — 244

Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE (4,427) (3,415)

Total #Et (4,427) (3,171)
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22. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

DD 122

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB8,284,000 (2023: RMB5,144,000) available for offset
against future profits with expiry dates as disclosed in the
following table. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not
recognized deferred tax assets for its unused tax loss of
RMB8,284,000 (2023: RMB5,144,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

22. EERIE 5

2024128310 - AEEREAHIEEIE
B AN R #8,284,0007T (2023F : A B #
5,144,0007T) + ] F LAE $8 R 2R 5 A1) (R om B
BN R R B EE) - 20245128318 A R
i35S (ZE B N N | 2N SYE TSI 3708 N )
FA i TE B 18 A R #58,284,0007T (20234 : A
E¥55,144,00070) ERIELEHIE A E o

At 31 December

®12H31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T T
31 December 2025 2025912 A31H 6 6
31 December 2026 202612 A31H 186 186
31 December 2027 2027912 A31H 2,076 2,076
31 December 2028 2028412 A31H 2,876 2,876
31 December 2029 2029412 A31H 3,140 —
Total #Et 8,284 5,144

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB160,472,000
(2023: RMB154,793,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The corresponding unrecognised deferred
tax liabilities as at 31 December 2024 was RMB8,024,000
(2023: RMB7,740,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

23. SHARE CAPITAL

(((((

(«

23. K

Number of shares RMB'000
& 17 2 B ARBFIT
Ordinary shares of United States Dollar BRR0.01ZET([ET]) K
("US$") 0.01 each il
Authorised: ETE
At beginning and end of 2023 and 2024  #2023%F 20245 F ¥
K& 3,000,000,000 205,984
Issue and fully paid: BITRER
At beginning and end of 2023 and 2024  #2023%F 20245 F ¥))
N F K 1,000,000,000 66,192

24. RESERVES

Other reserves

Other reserves were all generated in 2017, which represented
(1) a negative amount of RMB23,500,000 being the excess of
cash consideration paid for acquisition of Langfang Wantong
over its registered capital pursuant to the group
reorganisation; (2) an amount of RMB29,832,000 payables to
Mr. Wang lJianjun (Ms. Zhao's spouse) and Ms. Zhao by the
Group after deducting related tax charge which was waived by
them and accounted for as a deemed contribution to the
Group; and (3) a negative amount of RMB5,023,000
capitalised into share capital pursuant to the capitalisation
issue.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to transfer no less than 10% of their profits after taxation,
after offsetting any prior years’ loss as determined under the
China Accounting Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the
distribution of a dividend to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-in capital
in proportion to the existing interests of equity owners,
provided that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of the registered capital. As at 31 December 2022,
the accumulated balance of statutory surplus reserve of
Langfang Wantong, one of the PRC subsidiaries, has reached
50% of the registered capital, no further appropriation is made
in the current year.

24. %15
H b 4

T B ESR2017FES  Hdh()E& %
% A R #23,500,0007T & 1R 75 & B &= 40 W g
BHERAZANESREBHEFMER
HED  QAREBNRNKRERTIER X ZE
NTEERE(BLTHRMB) RBELZ TR
TH AR #29,832,0000T ' ZERBCERSE
e WERGSAHAEEMNERAR  XQ3)
BEBEERMEBITENMERANEBSEAR
#5,023,0007T °

ETE BB

REBEREE@ARIILER  AEERFEZ
M E AT AENKRBEFEREF
e EREEMEERRE BT R10%8
B ANEREZTRABEE BEEHE
EEER M A ARRS50% © B T B M B
NAIRERD IR E 2 ISR EZHE - FRIE
EEMBERAGTER BRETRBHRETT
FUDIE - EERBHEETANEBBEF
EMEE(E)  SURREEE AR G#ER
Rt Bl R AN - HEBREEHRTE
DR M EARA25% © KR2022F 128318 -
FENE AR BB BRAEERBGER
2Rt EHEERFEMERMN50%  AFEL
ML E — PR
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25. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 25. iEZBHELENEBGYE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Lease liabilities

HESE
RMB’000
AR T
At 1 January 2023 7202341818 1,032
Financing cash flows MERERE (539)
Interest expenses FERX 45
At 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H 538
Addition NE 518
Financing cash flows BMEREME (575)
Interest expenses FLEFXE 19
At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 500
26. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. EXEmEE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEBEEREERN BRASEERLEHES
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while REFERERLE ARNERBBESEERLS
maximising the return to shareholders through the BEELL B TREZALIHR - RNREEKHE
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's ERERBE—FRERTE-

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of lease liabilities, if REBNERERBEREAE (A L
any, net of cash and cash equivalents and total equity of the BREeRESEVURASEERAEE -
Group.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on AEBEEREETHRTENERE - BEMEHE
a regular basis. As part of this review, the management B BEREZEEARNKAREERNERAY
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the Bk  ERERENHBEZ A5EEF
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the BEETEALEITHER  FTEHEBER
Group will balance its overall capital structure through raising EiE o

of new capital or issue of new debt.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.

Categories of financial instruments

p—

27. BT A 74

TR IEDR

At 31 December

MA12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARE T AR®ET T
Financial assets T EEE
Financial assets at amortised cost IR AT E R
THEE 209,807 274,856
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBRED
THEE 4,256 5,322
Financial liabilities TEAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEERATERN
THAE 11,863 11,261

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments consisted of financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash and trade and other payables. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i) Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of interest rates, foreign currency
and other price risk.

There has been no change to the manner in which
the Group manages and measures the risk from
prior year.

TRIERERB R REE
AEBNERTABFZEAFETA
BamemEE B NMEMEKR
B RITEBRERASARE S R E
FEAT IR - & B T AR 15N 8
ARE-EZEoRTARBNER
BETISRERR (FXER - SN R &
HERER) EERREADHES
[\ o

4 fe] R B2 5% 3 AL B B9 SR B T 3 e
REEEREERENEEZSTAR
BEREEERETHEHEREE

i THER
AEBEEEHETAHAE -
SN T A (R 45 LI 40 R
B -

BE—F AEEEELFTEZ
SR AL EEE -
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

MMM

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to lease liabilities. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances carried at prevailing market
interest rates promulgated by the People’s Bank of
China.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the
management of the Group considered that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

Foreign currency risk

The Group collects all of the revenue in RMB and
incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

27. €@ I A

b. &l

(i)

Assets

BE

At 31 December

M12A831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T PNE-Rw
HK$ BT 25,247 39,076
us$ = 2,157 —

R E IR B R R R (@)

M5 AR (&)
I FE g &

AEEAZERBEERENRT
BN EE LR - NEETTRIZRE
TEARRITHABEMBNERTH S
MEFIFRMRITHEA M ME RS

mEF EREE -

A B B A1 348 ) 3 R TR -
BEREEZRNUERYHE
A F R B -

HRAEEERER R EH®
RITBERELNRSREN XA
b NEK - R 2 5 BURE
DT e

S L

AEBMAAREHINARE W
B KRE D RE AR IRA
AR¥EE-

REBEIMEGTENEEEER
BEBaENRERRNREERN
T~

Liabilities
=R
At 31 December
®W12A31H

2024
20245

2023
20234
RMB’000
AREEFIT

RMB’000
AR®BTR

424
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation in
HK$ against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase or decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currency. 5% (2023:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the
Group is as follows:

p—

27. WM B (& 74
b. wmi“iﬂAM@ETT&BZﬁ”t

iy TWHERE)

Sh B m B (%)
BURRE 5T

AEBTEEHBETLARBE
KRB R R o

TRFVAEEBY AR XA
GNHE TE R #95% (2023%F 5% )
3 NSO D B UK E 25% (2023
F 5% ) RMEZERABE
R HNES BB B T PR A SRS L
X o UWRREEEBHERSEBH
ENEEEES TS BEED
T BIELAINEFHE R R EE SN
BEIEE - WA HRE AR IINEE
KREFBS%IEHFAE -

AEBHEERRNBEES T
W

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AR T T

Increase/(decrease) in post-tax profit 4 A4 B 14 i K &Y

for the year o, O )
— if RMB weakens against HK$ — BREARBRET

E 55 1,284 1,923
— if RMB strengthens against HK$ — REBEARE N E T

E 58 (1,284) (1,923)
— if RMB weakens against US$ — BERARBEZET

E 55 108 —
— if RMB strengthens against US$ — BREBEARBHET

E 58 (108) —
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

b.

DO 128
DO

(i)

(ii)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group invested in certain unquoted equity
securities for investee as detailed in note 16. The
Group monitors the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities
with fair value measurement categorised within
Level 3 were disclosed in note 27c.

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk primarily relates to other
receivables and bank balances. The credit risk on
bank balances is limited because the bank
balances are maintained with reputable
commercial banks in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group provided impairment on other
receivables based on 12m ECL. The counterparties
of the Group’s other receivables are primarily local
government or business unit under local
government. For the purposes of internal credit
risk management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
There is no past due record of other receivables.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is not significantly increased.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. €@ T Euw) V
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. TREMREERZREEE
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (i) MEESERER
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAVNREBEFTESRERE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BRI RS QB - ZRIBEAR
liabilities. The table has been drawn up according SEFREANRNEFEHRNS
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial MEBERURRRERH - Z
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the XAKZNFERETER SN
Group can be required to pay. The table includes 2o

both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted Over 1 year Total Total
average Less than  but less than undiscounted carrying

interest rate 1 year 2years  cash flows amount
ik 1#0E  AERRE

TR = PG BHRF REAE REESH

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR%®TR AR¥TR ARETR

At 31 December 2024 120245124318

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3E{T4 B EE

Trade and other payables EOREMERTIE 11,863 - 11,863 11,863
Lease liabilities ME&E 23 275 229 504 500
Total @t 12,138 229 12,367 12,363
At 31 December 2023 12023F12A431A

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3E4T4 4R & &

Trade and other payables B2 REMENFE 11,261 - 11,261 11,261
Lease liabilities HE&AE 5.6 547 - 547 538
Total @zt 11,808 — 11,808 11,799
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

) 130
MMM

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of financial assets at FVTPL have been
arrived at based on the valuation performed by HG
Appraisal & Consulting Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at

27. €@ I A
¢ SRMIAEMATE:ES
AEESHLMTARATENE
LETHBRE -

A LR R AT @ B
SHEEATE
BATEFAERNSBEEATE
TYER E AR B B A
B A EET R ENERA
BB 7T M0 (2 o

TRBETEHRNANEEEREEAF
ENEM (CEEZMANMGERNT RS
ABUR) ©

31 December Valuation techniques  Significant

Financial assets 2024  Fair value hierarchy and key inputs unobservable input(s)
20245
12A31H EERMK

tRMEE WAFE AFEER TEHAHE EXAFUBRBABE
RMB’000

ARBTT
Financial assets at FVTPL 4,256  Level 3 Market approach: based  P/B ratio: 0.49
— unlisted equity (2023:5322) E=#% on the target companies’ (2023: 0.49) (note)

investment

BRATEFABZNERE 4,256
E— FLEmBRARE (20234
5,322)
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financial performance DLOM: 35%
and the multiples of (2023: 35%) (note)
comparable companies. TR % : 0.49

(20234 : 0.49) (Fft 3F)
Rz mERBE

The key inputs are:
(1) Price to book ratio

("P/B ratio") P& 35%
(2) Discount for lack of (20234 : 35%)
marketability (“DLOM") (B} 5£)

mi5E: ERBEARF
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A
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Note:

An increase in the P/B ratio used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the financial assets at
FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the P/B ratio
holding all other variables constant would increase/decrease the
carrying amount of the investment by RMB213,000 (2023:
RMB266,123).

An increase in the DLOM used in isolation would result in a
decrease in the fair value measurement of the financial assets at
FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the DLOM
holding all other variables constant would decrease/increase the
carrying amount of the investment by RMB115,000 (2023:
RMB143,297).

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

p—

27. €M I A

C.

TRIANRFENE®H

GEE

BEEFERANTRRENBEIIZRFE
ABENERMEEATFENEEN k2
TRER o HER A E i & 18 - mERRE
WMA5% G EHILEREEE N B AR
#213,0007T (20234 : AR#266,1237T) °

BEBEANBRZM B RBMETEENEE
B AFEFABENEREEDQ FER
ERD RZMAR MG EMEETE
B S R BTG AN, 5% 15 B 5
EEEBERD I MNARE1150007T
(20234 : AR¥143,2977T) °

E=BATEFENHE

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BAFEFTA

BENEREE

RMB’000

AR®T

At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 6,909
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at {Z A FEFABENESREE

FVTPL R EZHEE (1,587)

At 31 December 2023 #2023F12H31H 5,322
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at {Z QA FEFABENEREE

FVTPL AT EEHER (1,066)

At 31 December 2024 #R2024F12831H 4,256

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but
fair value disclosures are required)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

2024 FE#RE -TFEBREER) BRAF

TUEEEEEEAFESENDR
AERSMABHATEEERED
F18)

E=ZRR AHYBHERRPRBERX
AANEHNEMEERBENREESR
HRAFERE -
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

DD 132

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC Government
(the "Retirement Benefit Scheme”). The Group is required to
contribute 16% of the total monthly basic salaries of its
current employees to the Retirement Benefit Scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the Retirement Benefit Scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. For members of the
MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the scheme, which is the only obligation for the
Group and the same amount is matched by the employee.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB922,000 (2023: RMB726,000), represented contributions
paid and/or payable to the schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. There were
also no forfeited contributions available at 31 December 2024
and 2023 under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29. XA R B MR R KR #E l'/
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position and BEAARAVBRIXRNEREEZSHOER
movements in the reserve of the Company were as follows: T

At 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Equipment By 18 18

Investment in a subsidiary wEWEB QA = —
Dividend receivable JE U % B 41,650 19,800
Right-of-use assets TREEE 473 516
42,141 20,334
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Dividend receivable & AR B — 5,350
Prepayments and other receivables T8 5 3R I8 K H A fE W k18 664 479
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG S 7,065 3,505
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 24,153 38,133
31,882 47,467
CURRENT LIABILITIES FEBEE

Other payables H b fE A 5RIE 101 154
Lease liabilities HEAaE 270 538
371 692
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 31,511 46,775
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITY AEERABER 73,652 67,109

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 230 —
NET ASSETS EEFE 73,422 67,109

CAPITAL AND RESERVE BEARR#E
Share capital [N 66,192 66,192
Reserve B 7.230 917
TOTAL EQUITY EERHE 73,422 67,109

2024 FE®RE -
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 2
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

[Co]

AR BB RRAREEE@®

Movements in the Company’s reserve KArlREBEES
Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
losses)
RERER A
(RETER)
RMB’000
AR T
At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H (3,072)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FARMNEEEKRAERE 3,989
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12H31H 917
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FREMNEEEKRABEE 15,436
Dividends recognised as distribution BRAED KRS (9,123)
At 31 December 2024 120244124318 7,230
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A318 IEF[E

30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company has direct
and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries:

Place of
incorporation/
registration/

30.

e
e — ) ),
AL
~/
AATKB DT EE 74

RIEMR  ARFRAATHELT0E

B N M R

Shareholding/equity
interests attributable
to the Company

Name of subsidiaries operations Registered capital At 31 December Principal activities
M12A318
MBI RS AARELRE/
WELR AR EEMY ERN-EN PR 5 TEER
2024 2023
2024F [EPIVEES

Shing Sheng International Limited* BVI Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

Shing Sheng International Limited* EEELES (E REER

Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

ER(ER)BERAR e 187 REER

Langfang Wantong (note a) PRC RMB32,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of burial plots,

B & (Pt s a) H A #32,000,0007 columbarium units,
provision of other
burial-related services,
cemetery maintenance
services and funeral
services

WEEM BB RE
HiEmEARS 28
HERBELREERSB
Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation ~ PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. (note b) H 30,000,000 & REER
BHERECEREERAR
(Fi3Eb)
BoHmERNBREREERRA PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of other burial-
(note a) (Langfang City Wantong A R #500,0007C related services
Funeral Services Co., Ltd.)** REHEMEMBBRS
BHmEREEZREERAA
(FizEa) *
Linkong Wantong (note a) PRC RMB30,000,000 79% 79%  Construction and operation
Bz g (MiTa) H (note ¢) of and cemetery
AR #30,000,0007T maintenance services
(Bt 3Ec) BERE=ERREREE
R
BHmEERERBEREELRE  PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of funeral service
(note a) (Langfang Daoning Funeral (note d) REBEERE
Services Co., Ltd.)** A R #500,0007C
BYmBEEREREEREERA (i 7Ed)

(P 5¥a) **

2024 FE®RE -

FREEME R ARAR
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30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(o)

(d)

**

The Group does not have any subsidiaries

These companies are PRC limited liability companies.

Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation Investment Co., Ltd. is a
wholly foreign owned company established in the PRC.

The paid in capital of Linkong Wantong was RMB500,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023 : RMB500,000) which was contributed by
Langfang Wantong, and the non-controlling shareholder has not
yet contributed any capital.

The company was established in July 2023 by Langfang Wantong.
At 31 December 2024, the registered capital has not been paid
in.

Directly-held by the Company

English name for identification only

issuing debt

securities during the year and at the end of the reporting
period.
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